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Established in 1901 under a Trust 
Deed signed by Andrew Carnegie, 
the income generated by his original 
endowment is to “be applied towards 
the improvement and expansion of 
the Universities of Scotland” and 
“rendering attendance at these 
Universities and the enjoyment of 
their advantages more available to 
the deserving and qualified youth of 
that country to whom the payment 
of fees might act as a barrier”. 
For over a century the Trust has 
fulfilled these aims – by funding 
student fees, scholarships and 
bursaries, and through the award of 
research grants. Operating across 
all academic disciplines the Trust 
encourages wider access to higher 
education and supports high quality 
scholarships and research in all the 
Scottish universities.
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In February, I greatly enjoyed attending, along 
with fellow Trustee Judith Sischy, our annual 
PhD Scholars’ Gathering . These get-togethers 
are always a great pleasure and are now being 
extended to include a wider range of the Andrew 
Carnegie community . I also joined our session 
arranged in September for undergraduate students 
who, with the support of the Trust, had recently 
completed Vacation Projects . This event was held 
in the Mansion House of Edinburgh Zoo and was 
also attended by Trustees Judith Sischy and Sir 
Iain McMillan, along with guest speaker Professor 
Niamh Nic Daeid from the University of Dundee . 
The lively set of students presented their project 
posters with great skill and enthusiasm and used 
the opportunity to start building their professional 
network .

Equality and Diversity are central to the work 
of the Trust and we routinely monitor Equal 
Opportunity data gathered during the application 
and award making process for all our schemes . 
As an example, of the applicants to the Research 
Incentive Grants in 2017-18, 46% were women – a 
ratio that was maintained among the successful 
applicants . Although this appears satisfactory, we 
are nevertheless conscious of a lack of diversity, 
both in terms of gender and ethnicity, among the 
members of our Selection Committees and will be 
working with the academic community to increase 
representation from female researchers and ethnic 
minorities in future .

In October 2017, we held our second strategy 
discussion, during which the Trustees and staff 
reviewed progress since the first such meeting – 
held a year previously – and identified new areas 
for development . Strategic priorities included: 
new approaches to supporting undergraduate 
students; the building of an effective Andrew 
Carnegie Community amongst past and present 
beneficiaries as well as other supporters of the 
Trust; and the identification of new routes to 

CHAIR’S INTRODUCTION

increased fundraising . It was in the latter context 
that possible changes to the Royal Charter 
– in relation to greater flexibility with regard 
to donations that could be accepted – were 
recognised as needing urgent consideration . I am 
pleased to note that, having received legal advice, 
confirming some changes would be helpful, a 
suitable amendment was included in the wording of 
the new Supplementary Charter recently approved 
by the Privy Council .

Last year I was able to report the receipt of some 
exceptionally large legacies . This year has seen a 
continuing stream of donations at a more modest 
– but nonetheless very generous – level . We are 
always extremely grateful for whatever support 
donors choose to provide . And, we are particularly 
grateful when Trustees not only give their time in 
support of the Trust but also contribute financially .

I am confident that the Trust will continue to 
use the funds provided, initially by Carnegie 
and subsequently by all our other supporters, to 
provide highly-valued support to the universities 
of Scotland and their students .

In the course of this year, three Principals of Scottish 
universities retired and consequently concluded 
their terms as Trustees: Sir Ian Diamond, University 
of Aberdeen, Ferdinand von Prondzynski, Robert 
Gordon University and Sir Tim O’Shea, University 
of Edinburgh . The Trust is grateful to them for 
their support and, in particular Sir Ian’s valuable 
assistance with the Trust’s review of its research 
grants schemes in 2013-14 . In their place we have 
welcomed Professor George Boyne, (University 
of Aberdeen), Professor John Harper, (Robert 
Gordon University ) and Professor Peter Mathieson 
(University of Edinburgh) .

I conclude by gratefully acknowledging the support 
of all my fellow Trustees and the excellent work of 
our office staff .

The year to 30 September 2018 was, once again, a very good 
year for the Trust. Overall we distributed 480 grants to a total 
value of around £2.68 million. Details of all our activities can 
be found in the pages of this report, together with examples 
of specific projects which we have supported and the many 
individuals who have benefited from our awards. 
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Chair’s Introduction

LIST OF BENEFACTORS

Name Value Description

Anonymous £10 Donation

A C Boswell £120 Fee repayment, Glasgow, Science, 1935-42

Ann Petrie Cantley £10,000 Legacy-Fee repayment, Edinburgh, Arts, 1946-48, £36

Sandra Dawson £300 Fee repayment, Glasgow, Veterinary Medicine, 1991-92 

Helen Pringle Douglas £20,000 Legacy-Fee repayment for husband Andrew Cairns  
Douglas 1941-46, Edinburgh, Medicine

Alison Fielding £5,000 Carnegie Scholar, Glasgow, 1986-89 and current Trustee

Bruce Gillies £1,022 Fee repayment, Heriot-Watt, MSc Mathematics, 1995-1996

William James Kerr £1,000 Legacy-Fee repayment, Edinburgh, Veterinary Medicine, 
1942-1945

Donald McVean £8,000 Legacy-Fee repayment, Scholar, Glasgow, Botany,  
1949-1952

John Sawkins £240 Fee repayment, Scholar, Edinburgh, Economics, 1989-92

Elizabeth M H Simpson £2,000 Legacy-Fee repayment, Glasgow, Arts, 1944-45

Edward Smith £1,000 Fee repayment, Strathclyde, Mechanical Engineering, 1986 
(£536)

CAF (James Williamson) £211 Fee repayment, CAF donations

Gift aid repayment £1,415 Based on eligible donations £7,590

£50,318

Dame Anne Glover DBE, FRSE, FASM



SECRETARY’S REPORT

Once again, I can report another successful year for the 
Trust. By supporting students and academic staff in the 
Universities of Scotland, we continue to deliver on Andrew 
Carnegie’s vision established all those years ago.
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Despite the many ups and downs in the financial 
markets, the capital endowed to the Trust at the 
start of the 20th century by Carnegie generates a 
growing income, permitting significant expenditure 
across the range of our grant schemes . Financial 
details and information on grants awarded are 
provided below and in the body of this Report .

Strategy Review and Developments

Following our first Strategy Discussion Day in 2016, 
the Staff and Trustees met once again at the start 
of this year (October 2017) for a further, half-day, 
strategy meeting . This provided another excellent 
opportunity to consider progress on developing 
the Trust’s mission and to consider new issues that 
had arisen over the previous 12 months .

Some progress has been made on the identification 
of greater numbers of undergraduate students who 
might benefit from the Tuition Fee Grant scheme . 
As most students resident in Scotland have 
tuition fees paid on their behalf by the Student  
Awards Agency for Scotland (SAAS), those who 
are ineligible for such support (for a variety of 
reasons) are often unaware of the assistance that 
the Trust can provide . Working closely with the 
universities’ admissions departments, we have 
been able to deliver increasing support for students 
in this category – growing the expenditure on this 
scheme from £155k last year to £293k this year . 
This has included the awarding of grants to Asylum 
Seekers through scholarships in collaboration with 
the University of Strathclyde, initially, and now 
extended to the Universities of Glasgow and the 
West of Scotland .

This year also saw the implementation of significant 
changes to our other grant schemes, as a result 
of the 2016 Strategy Review . Both the Carnegie 
Centenary Professorships scheme (introduced to 
mark the 2001 centenary of the Trust’s foundation) 
and the Collaborative Research Grants scheme 

were terminated . This permitted additional funding 
to be allocated to the Research Incentive Grants 
(RIG) scheme, with the maximum value of a RIG 
award being raised from £7,500 to £10,000 – 
focusing on support for early career academics .

As a result of the Scottish government introducing 
its new loan scheme for postgraduate (Master’s) 
studies, the Trustees paused operation of the 
Carnegie-Cameron Bursaries – the scheme offering 
tuition fee grants for Master’s programmes . More 
recently, it has been concluded, on review, that this 
scheme should not be reinstated .

Another outcome from the strategy discussions 
has been the concept of developing an Andrew 
Carnegie Community – comprising both current 
and past grant recipients and supporters of the 
Trust . Ways by which this Community might be 
established by building upon the existing alumni 
network and events held with grantees have been 
worked up in the course of the year .

Finally the Trustees expressed their enthusiasm 
for increasing the available resources through 
fundraising . In this connection, concerns were 
raised during the Strategy Discussion about 
limitations potentially imposed by the terms of 
the Royal Charter and it was agreed these would 
be investigated . Subsequently, legal advice 
confirmed that the Trust was restricted to only 
accepting donations that added directly to the 
main endowment; the possibility of removing 
this limitation was referred to the Charter Review 
Working Group .

Charter Review

At the time our Royal Charter was amended in 2015, 
the Trust was asked to consider the impact of the 
Equality Act on our eligibility criteria, in particular 
the inclusion of “Scottish birth or extraction” . A 
Charter Review Working Group was convened to 
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consider this, along with a number of other aspects 
of the Trust’s governance structures . In the course 
of this year, the Group concluded its work and 
reported back to the Trustees as a whole . Following 
discussions with the Scottish Government Legal 
Directorate and the Office of the Privy Council, a 
series of proposed changes to the Charter were 
approved at a Special Meeting of Trustees in 
August 2018 . These included: using the alternative 
term “substantial connection with Scotland”; a 
reduction of the number of Trustees, from 29 to 14; 
broadening of the conditions under which support 
can be provided to undergraduate students; and 
removing limitations on the types of donation 
that could be accepted . Following the August 
meeting, a petition was submitted to Her Majesty 
the Queen seeking the grant of a Supplementary 
Charter incorporating the requested changes . At a 
meeting of the Privy Council in December 2018 the 
revisions were approved and a new Supplementary 
Charter granted – coming into effect in 2019 .

Grants and Scholarships

In the course of the year 2017-18, the Trust distributed 
a total of £2 .68m in grants and awards – slightly up 
on the previous year .

Through tuition fee assistance and supplementary 
grants, we were able to fund 163 undergraduate 
students who were not eligible for SAAS financial 
support . This figure is significantly up on last year 
(97) . Undergraduate students were also supported 
through the award of 114 Vacation Scholarships – 
again an increase .

Also during the year, 123 Research Incentive 
Grants, to a total value of £1,018,285, were made 
to academics in Scottish universities . In addition, 
we have supported 52 PhD Scholarships . Further 
details on all these schemes are presented later in 
the Report .

Having received, last year, the substantial legacy 
from Mr Keith Morgan endowing a further PhD 
scholarship in the field of Botany and Plant Science, 
we are delighted to report the award of the first 
Carnegie-Cant-Morgan Scholarship to Patricia 
McAllister for her studies of barley variation at the 
University of Dundee .

Trustees

There were no new Trustee appointments in the 
year under review . This reflects, in part, the planned 
move to a smaller Board under the proposed new 
Charter . Nonetheless the Trustees are seeking new 
nominations to ensure an appropriate turnover 
during the next few years .

Trustees and staff were very pleased to note 
the election of our Chair, Dame Anne Glover, as 
President of the Royal Society of Edinburgh .

We are very fortunate to have the support of an 
outstanding set of Trustees . Further details about 
all our Trustees can be found at the end of this 
Report .

PhD Scholars’ Day

On the 7th February 2018, 35 new and 
continuing Carnegie PhD Scholars attended 
an event, held at The Royal Society of 
Edinburgh . This included poster sessions 
for the first year Scholars and research 
presentations by students more advanced 
in their PhD research .

We were delighted to welcome back former 
Carnegie Scholar Dr Gill Murray-Dickson 
who talked about her experience since 
completing her PhD and her current role as a 
Conservation Geneticist at Edinburgh Zoo . 
Gillian undertook a PhD at the University of 
Aberdeen, graduating in 2011 .

PhD Scholars’ Day
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Vacation Scholars’ Event

On 5th September 2018 we welcomed 66 Vacation Scholars (out of 114 recipients) to our first Carnegie 
Vacation Scholarships Event held at The Mansion House, Edinburgh Zoo .

The event featured poster presentations from scholars in each of the Scottish universities detailing the 
aims, objectives and outcomes of their summer research projects . Students travelled from all over Scotland, 
and even as far as the Isle of Lewis, in order to attend . Participants were welcomed by our Chair, Prof Dame 
Anne Glover while Prof Niamh Nic Daeid, Director of the Leverhulme Research Centre for Forensic Science 
at the University of Dundee and former Carnegie Collaborative Research Grant recipient, gave a keynote 
address on the importance of research skills in today’s world .

Feedback from participants was very positive, noting that the event offered them an opportunity not only 
to meet Trustees and staff of the Carnegie Trust but also to network with other Vacation Scholars from 
all over Scotland . The Trust aims to hold this event every year at the end of the summer although a much 
larger venue will be required in future!

Vacation Scholars’ Event
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University and other visits

Once again, we took a number of opportunities to 
visit the universities during the year .

In January 2018, Patricia Krus and I accompanied 
Ed Weeple to present the 2017 Robertson Medal 
– awarded to each year’s best candidate for a 
Carnegie PhD Scholarship . On this occasion, 
the recipient was Jonathan Triffitt – a History 
graduate, studying for a PhD at the University of St 
Andrews . His PhD project is entitled “The German 
Princes and the People after the Fall of Monarchy, 
1918-1934” (see page 17) . Principal Sally Mapstone 
hosted the reception and congratulated Jonathan 
on his success, ahead of Ed Weeple completing the 
presentation of the medal .

In June 2018, I had the pleasure of attending a 
reception at the Edinburgh City Chambers in 
celebration of the 70th Anniversary of the US-UK 
Fulbright Commission . Ahead of the meeting, I met 
with Penny Egan, Executive Director, to discuss 
possible collaboration with our Trust .

Dame Anne Glover, Patricia Krus and I attended 
the Carnegie Peace Conversations conference, in 
The Hague, September 2018 . This event, held in the 
Peace Palace that was built by Andrew Carnegie in 
1913, brought together all the Carnegie organisation 
to discuss actions for peace-building . The Trust 
was one of the sponsors for this special event .

Office Developments 

This year has seen the installation and operation of 
the Trust’s new IT system . Based on the Salesforce 
platform, this software has been adapted to permit 
us: to store details of all our contacts – Trustees, 
grant applicants/recipients, specialist assessors/
advisers, selection committee members, etc – and 
to manage the application, selection, and award 
processes for each of our grant schemes . A full 
cycle of grant rounds has now been completed 
with satisfactory operation of the full system . This 
is proving a very valuable resource, both in terms 
of added functionality and enhanced efficiency .

The change-over to the new system proved timely 
in the light of the requirements placed on the 
Trust by the General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR) that came into effect in May 2018 . We took 
the opportunity to embed the new data protection 
expectations into our electronic procedures and to 
include, as necessary, the relevant Privacy Notices, 
etc . Completing the GDPR requirements, the Trust 
has put in place a new Data Protection Policy .

Towards the end of the year a new project was 
launched – to update the Trust’s website . Following 
a tendering exercise, a contract has been placed to 
refresh our web pages and strengthen our internet 
presence .

Office Staff

Last year I was able to report the arrival of our 
Research Grants Officer – John Thompson – and 
our Administrator – Sarah Self, both of whom 
have successfully completed a very productive 
year in the Office . For six months, they were 
joined by Daniel Proudfoot whom we employed 
as an intern to boost the effort being devoted to 
implementation of the new IT database . Daniel is 
now working for Highlands and Islands Enterprise . 
I gratefully acknowledge the dedication and hard 
work of all our staff: John, Sarah, our Manager – 
Patricia Krus, and Bursar – Kate Ellis .

Professor Andy Walker 
Secretary and Treasurer

Ed Weeple, Jonathan Triffitt & Prof Sally Mapstone
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ACTIVITY REPORT

The Trust aims to support the very best students and researchers in the 
Scottish universities through a portfolio of grants open to undergraduate or 
postgraduate students and academic staff.

The following sections provide an overview of the awards made and report 
on the progress of existing awards during the financial year under review.

SUMMARY STATISTICS FOR 2017-18

696 
APPLICATIONS 

RECEIVED

 480 
AWARDS 

MADE

15 

UNIVERSITIES 
SUPPORTED

11%

Undergraduate Fees  £292,898

9%

2%

38%

40%

Vacation Scholarships  £234,500 Hardship Grants  £55,631

Research Incentive Grants  £1,018,285 PhD Scholarships  £1,079,000

FUNDING 

BY SCHEME 

2017-18
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APPLICATION NUMBERS AND SUCCESS RATES

Scheme Applications  
Received

Awards  
made

Success  
rate

Undergraduate Fee Assistance 192 163 85%

Vacation Scholarships 159 114 72%

PhD Scholarships 56 17 30%

Research Incentive Grants 295 123 42%

GENDER BALANCE BY SCHEME

Female Male Prefer not to say Other

Vacation 

Scholarships
45%

52%

3
%

Research 

Incentive 

Grants

46%
51%

2
%

1
%

Postgraduate

 Funding
53%

47%
Undergraduate 

Tuition Fees
52%

46%

1
%

1
%
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UNDERGRADUATE FUNDING

Undergraduate Fee Assistance provides tuition fee grants to 
students ineligible for government funding due to prior study or 
residency status. Vacation Scholarships promote and develop 
research skills and experience in Scotland’s undergraduate 
students.

277 
AWARDS 

MADE

Roxanna McGee,  
University of Glasgow



KEY STATISTICS

163 

AWARDS  
MADE

95% 
OF STUDENTS 

STUDYING  
FULL TIME

53.8% 
OF AWARDS 
TO FEMALE 
STUDENTS

39% 
RECEIVED 

ADDITIONAL 
HARDSHIP 

GRANTS

£13,047 
AVERAGE 

ANNUAL INCOME 
OF AWARD 
HOLDERS*

UNDERGRADUATE FEE ASSISTANCE

This year, the number of awards under the Undergraduate Fee Assistance scheme increased slightly with 
163 grants awarded to students enrolled at Scottish universities, up from 97 in the previous year . The 
highest number of awards was to the University of the West of Scotland (54 awards), followed by Glasgow 
Caledonian (27 awards) . Of the students funded in 2017-18, 39% received further support through the 
Special Supplementary Fund which helps with living and study costs .

*This figure is based on the annual income before income tax .

UNDERGRADUATE FEE ASSISTANCE BY UNIVERSITY

GENDER BALANCE OF UNDERGRADUATE FEE ASSISTANCE 

Female Male Prefer not to say Other
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2 1
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AWARD HOLDER INTERVIEWS

ISSAM YASSER HUSEAN, UNIVERSITY OF STRATHCLYDE,
MPHARM IN PHARMACY

I am a qualified pharmacist abroad and have some experience as I worked 
in hospitals and community pharmacy when I was in Iraq . I chose to study 
MPharm at University of Strathclyde because I believe I need this course to 
become an outstanding pharmacy professionals expert in medicines, safe and 
effective practitioners, and to be able to maintain and improve my professional 
performance . The main target for me at the end of the degree course is to be 
a registered pharmacist in the UK and equip me with the knowledge, skills, 
attitudes and behaviours needed for careers in all branches of pharmacy, and in 
all aspects of the profession required in this country .

The Trust’s funding means a new life with a big hope to get a better future for 
me and my family . Because of this opportunity, I am learning pharmacy in an entirely different way and I feel 
more confident than before . I am really enjoying the course and managed to pass my year two and three with 
merit and now I am in my fourth year and will hopefully graduate next year .

I really appreciate the Trust’s efforts to provide this scholarship for the asylum seekers who are looking for 
change their life .

CHLOE GALLACHER, UNIVERSITY OF THE WEST OF SCOTLAND,
BSC IN APPLIED BIOMEDICAL SCIENCE

I am currently studying Applied Bioscience with Zoology . Since I was at school, 
I knew I wanted to study science . I initially studied Pharmacology but I quickly 
discovered that it wasn’t the course for me . When I came across this course, 
I decided to apply . I love studying the physiological adaptations and the way 
different organisms interact with their environment . This course has definitely 
put me in a better position to pursue research opportunities I am interested in .

I first heard about the Carnegie Trust through the university . I decided to apply 
for funding and was thankfully successful! As a full time student, this allowed 
me to focus on my studies rather than having to work full time to cover fees . 
This definitely allowed me to keep my grades up and I am extremely grateful to 
have been given this opportunity!

PIOTR TOSIK, ROBERT GORDON UNIVERSITY,
LLB IN LAW

Ever since I could remember my focus was to be part of something bigger, 
and to me law was exactly that . Having a family that were working for the law 
enforcement, kept me motivated . I believe in helping people, who need helping 
the most and I hope that after I graduate, I will be able to aid as many people as 
possible and make small changes in the community . That is my vision . 

I would not be able to realise this without the support of Carnegie Trust - I 
found out about the Trust from a close friend of the family who recommended 
it, that’s due to the fact that I couldn’t get any SAAS funding for my 2nd year 
studies . The people at Carnegie Trust were extremely helpful and welcoming, 
without them I don’t think I would be able to continue on with my studies . Also, 
I have never encountered anybody who kept in touch throughout my studies to make sure I was doing well 
and assured that the help is there when I need it . Thank you for your help, without you I would not be able to 
achieve my goals .

Issam Yasser Husean

Chloe Gallacher

Piotr Tosik
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KEY STATISTICS

159 
APPLICATIONS 

RECEIVED

114 
AWARDS  

MADE

72% 
SUCCESS  

RATE

15 
UNIVERSITIES 
SUPPORTED

VACATION SCHOLARSHIPS

Vacation Scholarships encourage students to gain research experience in the long summer vacation before 
their final year of study . For the 2017-18 round of funding, the overall success rate for this scheme was 72%, 
a rise of 15% from the previous year .

On 5th September 2018 we welcomed 66 Vacation Scholars to our first Carnegie Vacation Scholarships 
Event held at The Mansion House, Edinburgh Zoo . The event featured poster presentations from scholars 
in each of the Scottish universities detailing the aims, objectives and outcomes of their summer research 
projects . The Best Poster awards went to: Albara Elgehani, Heriot-Watt University; Jason Main, University 
of Aberdeen; Daniel Dolan, University of Glasgow and Ehsan Salim, University of Glasgow . There was also 
a People’s Choice award that all delegates voted on, which went to Tomasz Plaskocinski, University of St 

VACATION SCHOLARSHIPS BY UNIVERSITY

GENDER BALANCE OF VACATION SCHOLARSHIPS
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ALBARA ELGEHANI, HERIOT-WATT UNIVERSITY, 
BIOCHEMISTRY

Does the electrical activity of pancreatic islets during glucose stimulation 
reflect their ability to secrete insulin?

Islet-cell transplantation is a life-saving treatment in patients with Type 
1 diabetes, stabilising blood glucose control and even leading to insulin 
independence . Transplant outcomes are highly associated with islet 
numbers and their viability . However to optimise islet numbers and 
improve transplant outcomes new methods are required to objectively 
assess islet viability, which are rapid, accurate, and label-free . 

My project work was to stimulate isolated islets with glucose and measure insulin and electrical 
activity in single mouse and human islets . I used suction electrodes, microelectrode arrays and ELISA 
measurements of insulin secretion to establish if electrical activity is a good proxy for islet health . 
Islets were continuously perfused with a custom microfluidic device that will allowed a fraction by 
fraction analysis of insulin secretion . The results will be used to establish if the electrical activity of 
islets is a good proxy for islet health . 

The results showed that the ELISA method poorly correlated with electrical measurements of Islet 
health . The project revealed some issues that can be encountered regarding cell transport and 
residual insulin deposits on cell membranes which make the ELISA test a poor indicator of Islet 
viability . However, further work is required to associate islet health the insulin response to the 
electrical activity . The next course of action would be to continuously perfuse Islets with a custom 
microfluidic device that will allow a fraction by fraction analysis of insulin secretion . New Multi-
Electrode Arrays (MEAs) developed by the Brown group show significant advantages over older 
extracellular recording techniques . These results in conjunction with further results will be used to 
establish if the electrical activity of islets is a good proxy for islet health . 

Thanks to the funding from the Carnegie Trust I have been able to receive great insight and practice 
in research and have now decided to apply for a PhD after my Master’s degree .

Albara won one of the awards for Best Poster at our Vacation Scholars’ Event in September .

Albara Elgehani

TOMASZ PLASKOCINSKI, UNIVERSITY OF ST ANDREWS, 
PHYSICS

Optofluidic platform based on silica Aerogel with gas sensing applications

Silica Aerogel is a wondrous material consisting almost entirely of air – 
thanks to which it’s also known by the name of ‘solid smoke’ . It’s found 
many applications in science, from insulating robots on Mars, to being 
used by NASA to capture particles from far away stars . It has many 
incredible properties, being almost completely see-through, waterproof 
and very porous . These qualities make it perfect as a platform for my 
project . 

The initial aim of the project will be to create small channels inside of the Aerogel, fill them with 
various liquids and use a laser to essentially create liquid optical fibres in a transparent cladding . 
Different channel configurations and sizes will be tested out . From there, the resulting platform will 
be used to optically detect gases, which will be able to pass through the porous aerogel into the 
liquid, changing the optical properties of both the aerogel and liquid .

Tomasz won the People’s Choice award for Best Poster at our Vacation Scholars’ Event in September .

Tomasz Plaskocinski
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CLAIRE KIDD, ROBERT GORDON UNIVERSITY,  
ART

Surveilling pace and structure 

My work focuses on themes charged by nervous energy, such as a 
concern for the encroaching of a surveillance state or the potential 
dangers to come, should our rate of technological advancement 
continue . My surreal depictions of these topics rely on the liveliness I 
experience in the world around me . Through heated conversations, 
crowded transport and loud workspaces I am intrigued by chaos . In the 
studio I work to replicate this erratic tempo, using bright colours and 
aiming to find balance in busy compositions .

During my Vacation Scholarship project, I visited Marrakech, Barcelona and Bilbao to study the pace 
of life in each environment while gathering contextual research to inform my upcoming fourth year . 
Researching the art spaces in each city helped me make changes to the developing cultural map 
of Aberdeen . Interviewing local artists and learning about raw materials provided me unparalleled 
experience to apply to my own art practice upon my return .

The Carnegie Scholarship introduced me to an advanced level of interdisciplinary conversation as 
well as providing me an opportunity to improve on skills within my own field of research – fine art 
practice, specialising in drawing and painting . The experience has given me more confidence as well 
as prepared me for potential post graduate residencies .

LAURA COWIE, UNIVERSITY OF ABERDEEN,  
PSYCHOLOGY

Older adults and social relationships: Exploring the importance of 
cognitive and affective mental state understanding 

This project investigated the ability to understand other peoples’ 
thoughts, beliefs and emotions is crucial for everyday social functioning . 
In my project, I explored these abilities in older adults (aged 57-89) . 
These abilities are called ‘Theory of Mind’ (ToM) skills, and can be 
further broken down into Cognitive Theory of Mind (which is used to 
understand thoughts and beliefs) and Affective Theory of Mind (which 
is used to understand emotions .) A recent research paper (Lecce et al ., 
2017) found the ability to understand the thoughts and beliefs of others (Cognitive ToM) to be related 
to social friendships in older adults . My research aimed to test whether understanding emotions 
(Affective ToM) is important for building and maintaining social relationships too .

This scholarship has helped me gain a much deeper understanding of what research entails, from 
conception of the idea, right through to writing up a report and presenting findings . Having my own 
project gave me much more responsibility than I have had before which allowed me to become more 
confident in completing tasks independently and helped me to become more self-assured when 
using my own initiative .

Claire Kidd

Laura Cowie
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POSTGRADUATE FUNDING

The prestigious Carnegie PhD Scholarships scheme supports a 
limited number of graduates, who wish to pursue a PhD at a 
university in Scotland. 17 

AWARDS 
MADE

Kristin Lund, 
University of St Andrews



KEY STATISTICS

56
 NOMINATIONS  

RECEIVED

17
 AWARDS  

MADE

9
 UNIVERSITIES  

SUPPORTED

PhD SCHOLARSHIPS

As in the previous year, the total number of applications was limited to 60 with the quota of nominations 
per university calculated on the basis of the number of PhD degrees awarded by each Scottish university 
over a period of 5 years up to 2012-13 . Each university is allowed 2 nominations by default, plus a percentage 
of the remaining 30 places .

In March 2018, the Trust received 56 nominations . Following a review of the nominations, a selection 
panel was convened, comprising, Professor Robert Donovan (University of Edinburgh), Professor Faye 
Hammill (University of Glasgow), Professor Paul Hagan (Robert Gordon University), Professor Claire 
Wallace (University of Aberdeen), Professor Mary Orr (University of St Andrews), Professor John Roulston 
(CEO, Scimus Solutions Ltd), Professor Holger Nehring (University of Stirling), Professor Maggie Cusack 
(University of Stirling) and Professor Andrew Walker (CTUS and Heriot-Watt University) .

A total of 17 awards were agreed, with a reserve list to fill any offers of scholarships declined by nominees . 
The highest numbers of awards were in Arts & Humanities and Physical Sciences .

On the 7th February 2018 we welcomed 35 new and continuing Carnegie PhD Scholars to our annual 
gathering . The event, held at The Royal Society of Edinburgh, included poster sessions for first year Scholars 
and research presentations for continuing Carnegie Scholars . The Best Poster award went to Kelly Brown 
and the Best 3x3 Presentation went to Beth Johnston . The People’s Choice Awards for Best Poster went to 
Natalie Sinclair and 3x3 Presentation went to Gavin Macauley .

FIELD OF RESEARCH OF PhD AWARDS
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JONATHAN TRIFFITT, UNIVERSITY OF ST ANDREWS,  
HISTORY

The German Princes and the People after the Fall of Monarchy, 1918-1934

Jonathan’s research concerns the fall of dynastic monarchy, and its 
legacy, in inter-war Germany . In November 1918, almost two dozen 
kings, princes, and dukes were forced to abdicate as revolution swept 
aside a millennium of monarchical rule . Such a mass dethronement 
was unique, as was the fate of its victims; unlike their predecessors of 
centuries past, the monarchs did not flee into exile, but continued to 
live and work amongst their former subjects . Existing literature on the 
Weimar Republic is incredibly dense, but the post-revolutionary lives of 
Imperial Germany’s monarchs – and the profound significance of their sudden disappearance – form 
a striking lacuna . With a focus on the Kingdoms of Bavaria and Württemberg and the Grand Duchy 
of Hesse, Jonathan’s project will mark the centenary of the 1918 Revolution by examining princely and 
popular reactions to this dramatic caesura, and the consequences of ‘de-monarchification’ for the 
identity, culture, and politics of each state . Amongst other questions, it will ask: what did the new 
citizen-princes do next, and how did they interact with their former subjects and territories? Did the 
people regret the fall of monarchy, or celebrate it as an opportunity for reform? How were the princes 
replaced as symbolic figureheads, cultural patrons, religious leaders, and wielders of power? What 
implications does this have for our understanding of continuity in German history, and the course it 
subsequently took?

NEW SCHOLARS’ RESEARCH PROJECTS

Jonathan Triffitt

SAMUEL WHITE, UNIVERSITY OF DUNDEE,  
LAW

Does the UK’s current legal framework offer sufficient protection  
of fundamental rights?

The purpose of this thesis is to examine whether the UK’s current 
framework for human rights protection offers a sufficient level of 
protection of fundamental rights . It argues that the UK’s constitutional 
law prevents guaranteed protection of fundamental rights . My research 
assesses this by charting the history of human rights in the UK, 
particularly in the era following the Second World War, before going on 
to look at the efficacy of the current framework considering inter alia 
the constitutional doctrine of parliamentary sovereignty .

In my project, I examine the relationship between parliamentary sovereignty and human rights: 
perhaps best exemplified by the case of Hirst v UK where the European Court of Human Rights ruled 
a blanket ban on prisoner voting incompatible with the rights granted by the European Convention 
on Human Rights . Despite this decision Parliament has refused to remove this prohibition .

Another aspect of the thesis will focus on how other states manage to balance these competing 
interests before considering possible solutions to the current imbalance . An example of this 
imbalance is found in the right of the courts to issue a declaration of incompatibility under section 
3 of the Human Rights Act 1998 in cases where legislation is not compatible with Convention rights . 
This declaration, however, is powerless to strike down legislation: it simply allows the courts to alert 
Parliament to the incompatibility .

Ultimately, I hope my doctoral research will enable me to answer the question posed in the negative and 
make recommendations regarding which of the possible solutions would best suit the United Kingdom .

Samuel White
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ALICIA NÚÑEZ-GARCÍA, UNIVERSITY OF EDINBURGH,  
ARCHAEOLOGY

CONNECTING WORLDS: The early stages of Phoenician presence  
on the Atlantic coastline

What prompts societies to interact with each other? How are these 
contacts carried out? How do they materialise? What role do artefacts, 
‘things in themselves’, play in these encounters?

My doctoral research is concerned with intercultural contacts in 
the ancient world . More specifically, it explores Phoenician-Atlantic 
interactions during the Early Iron Age . Around 3000 years ago, 
Phoenicians – peoples inhabiting the Levantine coast, modern Lebanon and Israel – and the 
communities on the Atlantic coastline of Iberia started interacting with each other . But the questions 
of when, why, how and what consequences followed, still call for much debate . This project aims to 
unite and explore the existing material evidence for these intercultural contacts along the Atlantic 
coastline, to answer the above questions . Because early Phoenician-Atlantic interactions currently 
exist in a chronological and geographical liminality, it also seeks to bridge the gap between the 
Mediterranean and Atlantic worlds, as well as between the Late Bronze and Early Iron Ages .

VITALIJS BREJEVS, UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW,  
MATHEMATICS

Cobordism in smooth and symplectic topology

My PhD project is titled “Cobordism in smooth and symplectic topology” 
and is concerned with topology and geometry in dimension at most 
four, specifically, with the study of knots (tangled loops in 3-dimensional 
space) and contact/symplectic structures (constructions that help 
understand certain 3- and 4-dimensional spaces) . The aims of the project 
are twofold, namely to confirm the so-called ‘slice-ribbon’ conjecture, 
which gives conditions for how some knots can be boundaries of discs, 
for a particular class of knots, and to attempt an ambitious task of 
classifying possible contact/symplectic structures .

Alicia Núñez-García

Vitalijs Brejevs
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ALAN DODGSON, HERIOT-WATT UNIVERSITY,  
MATHEMATICS

Numerical approximation of stochastic Navier-Stokes equations

In applied mathematics, the Navier-Stokes equations are widely 
considered to be one of the most important mathematical models, used 
to represent and simulate the movement of a wide range of fluids . In 
modern mathematics, they are applied to real-world scenarios ranging 
from measuring liquid moving through a container to calculating the 
air flow around an aircraft’s wing in flight . Usually these equations are 
impossible to solve by hand, so we rely on the development of numerical 
methods to accurately approximate solutions to these problems . 

There is always an element of uncertainty when simulating real-world systems, and mathematical 
models can rarely reproduce the exact behaviour observed in real life . As a result, the field of 
stochastic processes has developed into one of the most prominent areas of modern mathematical 
research: we can include stochastic terms in models, which evolve randomly over time; the resulting 
equations can give far more accurate representations of the ‘true’ behaviour observed in the real 
world . 

The project will investigate the effect of introducing such a stochastic term into a mathematical 
model, focusing particularly on the Navier-Stokes equations due to their widespread use in applied 
mathematics, and will also focus on programming numerical algorithms in order to simulate realistic 
behaviour . In particular, it will involve calculating the error that will theoretically arise when using 
such a method, before backing up these claims by running numerical simulations and discussing the 
results . In doing so, it can be determined how appropriate finite element methods are when tackling 
stochastic problems .

Alan Dodgson

KELLY BROWN, UNIVERSITY OF STRATHCLYDE,  
PURE & APPLIED CHEMISTRY

Electrochemical assessment of the psychoactivity of new illicit substances

The use of electrochemistry is being investigated as a means of 
addressing the current gap in forensic practices, which are currently 
unable to meet the requirements of the 2016 Psychoactive Substances 
Act (PSA) . The PSA legislates drugs based upon their effect rather than 
their chemical structure and therefore requires determination of whether 
a substances is psychoactive or not . However current forensic practices 
offer no techniques able to meet this requirement, where traditionally 
lengthy toxicological studies are performed and used in combination 
with reported user effects . Through the development of a multiplexed electrode array, which utilises 
electrodes modified with receptors linked to psychoactivity, it is hoped to develop a rapid and simple 
electrochemical method able to identify whether an unknown substance is psychoactive or not .

Kelly won the award for Best Poster award at the Scholars’ Day in February .

Kelly Brown
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RONNIE MOONEY, UNIVERSITY OF THE WEST  
OF SCOTLAND, BIOLOGY

Quaternary Ammonium Compounds (QACs) biodegradation pathway in 
Acanthamoeba castellanii as a model for understanding drug resistance

Acanthamoeba is an opportunistic parasite associated with the sight 
threatening disease, Acanthamoeba keratitis, predominantly associated 
with contact lens use . Contact lens sterilants lack anti-amoebic agents, a 
situation exacerbated by their ability to induce the formation of resistant 
parasites . The need for sterilants with anti-amoebic activity, even against 
the resistant parasite is urgent . Previously, we showed that compounds 
called Quaternary Ammonium Compounds (QACs), had activity against 
all Acanthamoeba life stages, but the inactive analogues were used for energy production . We 
noticed that cells treated with inactive QACs contained high levels of ammonium, suggesting that it 
was being degraded, possibly by enzymes called amine oxidases . The existence of a pathway that can 
degrade QACs in the parasite is worrying, and we postulate that if the expression of these enzymes are 
elevated, the parasite can become resistant to the ‘active’ QACs . The project aims to identify amine 
oxidases in the parasite genome and investigate their role(s) in inducing QAC resistance if increased . 
We will also create QAC-resistant parasites to elucidate the pathway the parasite uses to develop 
resistance to QACs . This project will deliver an anti-amoeba supplement for contact lens cleansing 
and provide mitigating protocols to combat resistance if misuse produces resistant parasites .

NATALIE SINCLAIR, UNIVERSITY OF ST ANDREWS, 
MARINE BIOLOGY

Cultural transmission of humpback whale (Megaptera Novaeangliae) 
song in the central and eastern South Pacific Ocean

Some of the strongest evidence for nonhuman culture is found in the 
complex songs of humpback whales . Our understanding of humpback 
whale song is helping us to better protect humpback populations across 
the world, while also increasing our understanding of cultural behaviours 
in our own species . All male humpback whales within the same breeding 
population exhibit the same song type at any given time . Whale song 
also changes gradually, with all singers of the same population updating 
their song to maintain similarity across the population . Furthermore, song has been found to radiate 
eastward in the South Pacific, as individuals within adjacent populations learn the neighbouring 
population’s song . My research will address two key questions focusing on the transmission of song 
in the central and eastern South Pacific . Firstly, we don’t yet know how the Cook Islands function in 
the transmission of song to neighbouring populations and secondly, we don’t yet know how song 
is transmitted as we move further eastward, past French Polynesia . My research will address these 
questions by analysing and comparing long term datasets of songs recorded in the Cook Islands, 
French Polynesia and Ecuador .

Natalie won the People’s Choice award for Best Poster at our Scholars’ Day in February .

Ronnie Mooney

Natalie Sinclair

20



BETH JOHNSTON, UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW, 
CHEMISTRY

Nanostructured high energy density materials for positive insertion 
electrodes: towards high voltage all solid-state batteries

Lithium ion batteries are ubiquitous in modern life, from portable 
electronics to emerging all electric vehicles . However, issues persist 
with long term stability and safe operation at high voltages . Research 
undertaken in Professor Serena Corr’s Functional Materials Group 
at the University of Glasgow focuses on the design and synthesis 
of nanostructured electrodes and solid electrolytes as improved 
materials for lithium and sodium ion batteries . My area of research 
is the development of higher energy density materials for battery electrodes which means more 
energy can be stored in smaller and lighter batteries . One way of doing this is to tailor the crystal 
chemistry of these active materials to include redox active elements such as nickel that can increase 
the redox potential to allow batteries to operate at higher voltages, yielding higher energy densities . 
This materials design aspect of my work is complemented by also considering more novel ways to 
produce these materials . Using microwaves to produce battery materials is of particular interest as 
this represents a faster route to materials synthesis and can afford highly ordered nanostructured 
electrodes that can result in better performing batteries . Using microwaves can also allow shorter 
reactions at lower temperatures, which is beneficial from an environmental and industrial point of 
view . The results from my research will see the development of innovative synthetic routes to high 
performing materials and more efficient energy storage materials for the future .

Beth won the award for Best 3x3 Presentation at our Scholars’ Day in February .

Beth Johnston

PROFILES OF CONTINUING SCHOLARS

A total of 35 scholars were continuing their studies during the year under review, many of whom have 
been taking part in field work, publishing their research findings, presenting at international conferences 
or participating in public engagement activities . 

CONTINUING SCHOLARS

STUART BURRELL, UNIVERSITY OF ST ANDREWS,  
MATHEMATICS & STATISTICS

Dimension and structure in fractal forms

The project will focus on, but necessarily not be limited to, the study of 
fractal geometry . A fractal is an object with fine structure that displays 
interesting geometrical features at arbitrarily small scales . Such objects 
appear naturally in numerous areas of pure and applied science and 
fractal geometry attempts to develop a rigorous mathematical framework 
for studying them .

We set out with an open mind and flexible program, though specific topics 
could include the geometry of iterated function systems, dimension 
theory in dynamical systems, or multifractal analysis . For example, the notion of dimension is subtle, 
and the interplay between varying definitions can give rise to valuable insights about fractal objects .

While our interest in infinitesimal properties makes this project naturally fall under the umbrella of pure 
analysis, there are many links to other areas which could be investigated . This includes: probability 
theory, number theory, hyperbolic geometry, Fourier analysis, functional analysis, harmonic analysis 
or aspects of topology .

Stuart Burrell
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REBECCA WALKER, UNIVERSITY OF ABERDEEN,  
CHEMISTRY

Chirality and the Twist-Bend Nematic Phase

Liquid crystals constitute the fourth state of matter and have properties 
intermediate between those of a crystalline solid and a liquid . They 
flow like a liquid, but have some degree of molecular ordering like 
a crystal, and are perhaps best known for their use in liquid crystal 
displays . Different liquid crystal phases exist, depending on the degree 
of molecular ordering present . The simplest, and technologically most 
important, is the nematic phase in which the molecules all lie in the 
same direction, known as the director, while their centres of mass are 
randomly distributed . Recently, however, it has been discovered that bent molecules can form a 
nematic phase with a different structure . The bent molecules have a tendency to cause the director 
to bend, but such an arrangement cannot fill space efficiently . To compensate for this, the director 
twists forming a helical structure in which the director is tilted with respect to the helical axis . The 
phase is not chiral because both right- and left-handed helices form with equal probability . This is 
the twist-bend nematic phase . The proposal addresses the intriguing question as to what happens 
if the bent molecules are made chiral . This will favour the formation of just one type of helix and so 
the phase will become chiral . This would constitute a new type of liquid crystal phase . The proposed 
research involves the synthesis and characterisation of a range of novel chiral liquid crystals designed 
to exhibit the twist-bend nematic phase . The research will significantly enhance our understanding 
of the relationships between molecular structure and the observation of this new phase .

EILIDH JACK, UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW,  
MATHEMATICS & STATISTICS

Estimating the changes in health inequalities across Scotland over time

Disease risk is not constant over space and time and is often impacted 
by exposure to risk inducing behaviour such as consumption of alcohol . 
Poverty and deprivation are major factors in the spatial variation observed 
in the risk of disease, with more highly deprived areas usually exhibiting 
elevated levels of disease risk . This difference in disease risk between 
social groups and population areas is known as a ‘health inequality’, 
and these are caused by a fundamental inequity in the distribution of 
income, power and wealth across Scotland . My project involves building 
a statistical model to try and identify where health inequalities exist and understand how they are 
changing over time across three of Scotland’s biggest killers namely, coronary heart disease, stroke 
and respiratory disease .

Rebecca Walker

Eilidh Jack
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Dr Sofia Evemalm Kalamakis Dr Alexandre Johnston 

VIVA VOCE AND GRADUATIONS

Of the scholars in post in 2017-18, 7 graduated . 
Among the scholars who completed their degrees 
in 2017-18, Dr Sofia Evemalm Kalamakis graduated 
from the University of Glasgow in June 2018 with a 
thesis entitled Identifying and contextualising place-
names containing female name in the Western and 
Northern Isles . 

Dr Helen Green also graduated from the University 
of Glasgow in June 2018 with a thesis on Perceptions 
of pasts and landscapes in the planning processes of 
Scotland . Helen is currently a REF Impact Officer 
and Affiliate Researcher in the College of Arts, 
University of Glasgow .

Dr Alexandre Johnston graduated from the 
University of Edinburgh in July 2018 with a thesis 
on Sophocles, Pindar and archaic Greek thought . 
Alexandre is currently a Leverhulme postdoctoral 
fellow at the Scuola Normale Superiore in Pisa for 
the next two years .
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Dr Wenduan Xu Dr Ona Miller

Dr Wenduan Xu graduated from the University of 
Edinburgh in November 2018 with a thesis on CCG 
Parsing with Rich Dependency Models . “Financially, 
this work was supported in full and made possible 
by the Carnegie Trust for the Universities of 
Scotland, which asked nothing in return for an 
unrestricted grant . My debt to them is unbounded 
and I will always be grateful for their openness, 
kindness, fairness, and generosity” . Wenduan 
is currently working in an early stage startup in 
Cambridge .

Dr Fiona Mckay graduated from the University 
of Strathclyde in June 2018 with a thesis on The 
media representations of women in the Scottish 
public sphere . Since graduating, Fiona has taken a 
Lecturer position at Robert Gordon University .

Dr Ona Miller also graduated from the University of 
St Andrews in June 2018 with a thesis on Covalent 
attachment of bacteria to the host - a novel virulence 
mechanism shared by significant human pathogens . 
Ona is currently working as a postdoctoral research 
fellow with Prof . Michael S . Gilmore at Harvard 
Medical School . 

Dr Richard Glennie graduated from the University 
of St Andrews in absentia in November 2018 
with a thesis on Generalizing distance sampling 
models to give more robust methods for analyzing 
wildlife survey data . Richard has been involved in a 
project funded by the US Navy and became a co-
investigator on the project .
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RESEARCH FUNDING

Aimed at Early Career Researchers, Research Incentive Grants 
support small scale initial studies with the potential to lead to 
further research. 123 

AWARDS 
MADE

Scott Johnstone,  
Glasgow Caledonian University
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KEY STATISTICS

295 

APPLICATIONS  
RECEIVED

123 

AWARDS  
MADE

42% 

SUCCESS  
RATE

£8,278 

AVERAGE  
GRANT VALUE

15 

UNIVERSITIES  
SUPPORTED

RESEARCH INCENTIVE GRANTS

Following the successful launch of the Research Incentive Grants in 2014, the scheme continues to attract 
high quality proposals from all the Scottish universities . Projects are now assessed by peer reviewers 
recruited across the Scottish academic community and beyond . Over eight hundred academics are now 
registered as Carnegie Research Assessors with additional individuals recruited for specific proposals on 
an ad-hoc basis .

SUCCESS RATE BY UNIVERSITY OF RESEARCH INCENTIVE GRANTS

PROPORTION OF APPLICATIONS AND AWARDS BY UNIVERSITY

Research Funding
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DR MICHAEL MIKULEWICZ, GLASGOW CALEDONIAN 
UNIVERSITY, HUMAN GEOGRAPHY

Investigating local resistance to climate change adaptation:  
Climate injustice in São Tomé and Príncipe

Climate change is considered one of the greatest challenges for 
development in the Global South . However, despite not having 
contributed to it in any meaningful way, most developing countries 
have limited resources to prepare for its impacts – constituting an 
issue of climate injustice . The international community has been 
allocating increasing amounts of funding to support developing nations 
in ‘adapting’ to climate change . However, local communities have at 
times refused to participate in these efforts . They often do not accept the proposed solutions, and 
occasionally outright resist them . However, little empirical research has been done to understand 
this contentious aspect of adaptation . This project critically investigates why such resistance to 
adaptation efforts arises, how it unfolds, what its effects are, and what can be done to avert it and 
make adaptation more responsive, legitimate and thus more climate-just in the future . As its case 
study, this research will investigate the antagonistic relationship between a coastal village in São 
Tomé and Príncipe and a government-led adaptation project . The findings will contribute to climate 
justice theory with a focus on the local scale, and seek to offer operational recommendations for the 
international development sector .

HIGHLIGHTED PROJECTS FROM 2017-18

Dr Michael Mikulewicz

DR CRAIG STARK, ABERTAY UNIVERSITY, 
ASTROPHYSICS

Plasma initiation and ionisation processes in complex brown dwarf 
atmospheres

Brown dwarfs are failed stars, too small to sustain nuclear fusion in their 
core . They are relatively cool objects, resulting in the formation of clouds 
in their exotic atmospheres . Just like on Earth, the clouds can become 
electrically charged leading to enormous lighting strikes that energise 
the atmosphere . In such events, electrons are stripped from their atoms 
leaving behind a sea of positively charged ions and negatively charged 
electrons, called a plasma . In order to interpret emerging observations 
of brown dwarfs, an understanding of the underlying processes behind lightning, plasma generation 
and their associated electromagnetic emission is needed . The focus of my research is to develop 
sophisticated computer models to simulate lightning and plasma creation in the exotic atmospheres 
of brown dwarfs . This will help further our understanding of the physical processes behind lightning, 
how this can be used to interpret brown dwarf observations and to diagnose properties of their 
atmospheres . This research will also have an impact in other disciplines outwith astrophysics, 
most notably through the understanding of plasma generation and its exploitation in healthcare 
technologies, industrial processing plasmas used in manufacturing and the lighting industry, that 
contribute to the wider Scottish economic landscape and society .

Dr Craig Stark
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DR LEAH HERRGEN, UNIVERSITY OF EDINBURGH, 
BIOMEDICINE

A small molecule screen to identify modulators of brain repair

In our research project, we developed an experimental setup to rapidly 
test a large number of candidate medicines to see whether they can 
reduce or prevent the death of nerve cells after a brain injury .

Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI) occurs when an external force damages 
the brain, which can happen in traffic accidents or through falls, sports 
injuries or violence . There are about 30,000 cases of moderate or severe 
TBI every year in the UK alone . A major difficulty in the treatment of 
patients with TBI is the death of nerve cells in the brain, which happens immediately after the injury 
but also continues for hours and days afterwards . No medicines can currently stop this .

To tackle this unmet need, we used the accessible Larval Zebrafish to develop our testing method 
to see whether our candidate medicines can reduce or prevent the death of nerve cells after brain 
injury . We used a robot that handles the Larval fish and automatically takes pictures of them . We 
then analysed these pictures to see whether there were fewer dead cells after a brain injury when a 
fish had been treated with a particular candidate medicine . 

Our experiments have enabled us to establish and validate our new testing method for candidate 
medicines . This allowed us to obtain further funding for this line of research from the Rosetrees Trust 
and the Royal Society, to conduct further tests with a collection of hundreds of candidate medicines .  
We have already identified several that appear to reduce cell death after brain injury . These will 
provide starting points for developing novel medicines for patients with brain injury .

DR MINGYUAN CHU, UNIVERSITY OF ABERDEEN, 
PSYCHOLOGY

Establishing how cross-cultural differences in nonverbal behaviours 
influence face-to-face communication

This project will establish how cross-cultural differences in expressing and 
decoding nonverbal behaviour influence interpersonal communication . 
Globalisation means that people from different cultures are increasingly 
likely to interact with one another either in person or via video link . 
Effective cross-cultural interaction requires not only understanding 
spoken language but also decoding nonverbal cues, such as facial 
expressions, eye gaze, hand gestures, posture and voice tone and 
loudness . Despite that nonverbal behaviour is a fundamental element of human communication, they 
vary in their usage and meaning across cultures . The same nonverbal behaviour can be interpreted or 
valued differently in different cultures . For example, eye contact shows attentiveness and sincerity in 
Western cultures, whereas it is thought to be disrespectful and rude in many East Asian cultures . The 
planned project aims to achieve two goals: 1) identifying the common and culture-specific nonverbal 
behaviours produced by English and Mandarin speakers during face-to-face communication; and 2) 
establishing how English and Mandarin speakers interpret nonverbal behaviour in the other culture . 
Findings of this project will help to improve British and Chinese people’s ability to “read” each others’ 
nonverbal behaviour and to avoid conflict due to misunderstandings of nonverbal behaviour .

Dr Leah Herrgen

Dr Mingyuan Chu
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE & MANAGEMENT

TRUST CONSTITUTION  
AND POWERS

The Trust was founded by Andrew Carnegie 
through a Trust Deed dated 7 June 1901 and 
incorporated by Royal Charter on 21 August 1902 . 
This Charter was replaced on 10 July 1978 by the 
present Royal Charter, which, with its By-Laws, 
governs the operations of the Trust . During 2015 
amendments proposed to the 1978 Charter and By-
Laws were submitted to the Privy Council and these 
were approved on 8 October 2015 . As described in 
the Secretary’s report, further revisions have been 
made during 2018 and a new Charter will come into 
effect in 2019 .

The Principals of the Universities of Scotland are 
ex officio Trustees . There are fourteen nominated 
Trustees, who are elected or re-elected at the 
Annual Meeting of Trustees . The Royal Charter 
requires that three of the nominated Trustees 
shall retire each year, in order of seniority of 
appointment . Additionally, the Board has resolved 
that all nominated Trustees should be asked every 
three years whether they wish to seek re-election .

Nominated Trustees are appointed by the existing 
Trustees following an open advertisement . They 
are selected by the Trustees on the advice of a 
nominations committee, which works to ensure 
an appropriate range of experience in the Trust . 
Trustee induction takes place through provision 
of relevant background information and early 
involvement as a participant or observer in the 
committees of the Trust . 

Investment Committee

The Trustees are required to constitute an 
Investment Committee numbering not fewer than 
four members, of whom not fewer than three shall 
be persons qualified by their ability in and practical 
experience of financial matters . The Investment 
Committee keeps the Trust’s investments under 
frequent review .

Audit and Risk Committee

The Trustees are also required to constitute an 
Audit Committee, comprising no fewer than three 
Trustees, of whom at least one shall be an ex officio 
Trustee, chaired by a nominated Trustee . In 2015, 
the Trustees agreed to naming this committee the 
Audit and Risk Committee, recognising its role in 
overseeing risk management .

Staffing and Nominating (Trustees) Committees

The Trustees convene these Committees on an ad 
hoc basis, as required .

OBJECTS OF THE TRUST

By the Royal Charter, one half of the net income is 
to be applied to the improvement and expansion 
of the Universities of Scotland (Clause A) and one 
half to the payment of fees for qualifying Scottish 
students in respect of courses leading to a degree 
at a Scottish University (Clause B) . The Trustees 
have complete discretion over the disposal of 
any surplus under Clause B and may transfer any 
unexpended income to Clause A objectives or a 
reserve fund . 

The activities undertaken by the Trust in fulfilling 
these objects are summarised in the Secretary and 
Treasurer’s Report and in the activity report .
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STATEMENT OF THE TRUSTEES’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES

The Trustees are responsible for preparing the 
Annual Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) .

The Royal Charter and the By-Laws of the Trust, 
dated 10 July 1978 and amended 8 October 2015, 
together with the law applicable to charities in 
Scotland require the Trustees to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the charity 
and of the incoming resources and application 
of resources of the charity for that period . In 
preparing these financial statements, the Trustees 
are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently;

• observe the methods and principles of the 
Charities SORP;

• make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting 
standards have been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 
to presume that the charity will continue in 
business .

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the charity and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Charities 
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 
(as amended) and the provisions of the Royal 
Charter and By-Laws of the Trust . They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities .

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the charity and financial information 
included on the charity’s website . Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions .

OPERATING POLICIES  
OF THE TRUST

Reserves policy

The General Fund Reserve is an unrestricted fund, 
corresponding to the sums accumulated from 
historical surpluses of income over expenditure, 
which the Trustees are free to use in accordance 
with the charitable objects of the Trust . It is held 
to protect the Trust from unexpected fluctuations 
in future income so as to maintain, at a minimum, 
continuing support for staff and administration 
costs, including investment management fees, as 
committed for the next 12 months . The appropriate 
level of the reserve is reviewed by the Trustees 
annually .

Special Supplementary Fund - a fund created from 
sums placed at the disposal of the Trustees to 
alleviate hardship of students already receiving fee 
assistance from the Trust who find themselves in 
exceptionally necessitous circumstances .

Property Reserve Fund - a fund set up to support 
the investment in Andrew Carnegie House which 
is jointly owned and occupied with the other UK 
based Carnegie Trusts .

The Endowment Fund represents the original 
endowment, together with surpluses and deficits 
to date, and larger legacies received .

Investment policy and performance

The Trustees’ investment powers are governed 
by the Royal Charter, which permits them to 
invest in a broad range of investments issued by 
any government or municipal or public authority 
authorised to borrow money or any company 
with limited liability, and to invest in property in 
Scotland, England, Wales, and Northern Ireland .

The objective agreed with the Trust’s investment 
managers is to achieve real growth in both income 
and capital, within the investment guidelines in 
respect of type of investment and asset allocation 
contained within the discretionary management 
agreement with the investment managers . The 
current risk guidelines agreed are that there will 
be a minimum of 50 holdings, none of which may 
represent more than 10% of the net asset value of 
the fund; that the ten largest holdings of the fund 
will represent no more than 60% of the net asset 
value of the fund; and that no single stock should 
account for more than 4% of the forecast income 
for the fund . The current guidelines set asset 
allocation as follows: 
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ASSET ALLOCATION

Permitted 
Range

Performance 
Benchmark

UK  
Equities

55-100%
FTSE All 

share Index

Overseas  
equities

0-20% -

Bonds/ 
Cash

0-25% -

The flexibility on changing the asset allocation 
depends on the investment managers’ 
requirement to grow the income in real terms . 
The types of investment permitted include UK 
equities, convertibles, preference shares, UK and 
European fixed interest securities, unit trusts and 
investment trusts . Non UK equity investments are 
also permitted as necessary to provide flexibility in 
maintaining balance of sectors in the context of the 
risk guidelines . Underwriting or sub-underwriting 
of issues or offers for sale of securities is permitted 
but the funds may not, without permission of the 
Trust, include securities where an issue or offer for 
sale was underwritten, managed or arranged within 
the previous twelve months by the investment 
managers . Investments in tobacco companies are 
not permitted .

The Investment Committee meets three times 
annually with the investment managers to review 
the reports on performance and to monitor the risk 
strategy for investments in respect of business risk 
and portfolio risk . As part of the periodic reporting, 
the investment managers report on internal 
compliance with risk management procedures, 
with an annual review of such risk management 
arrangements being carried out by the Bursar and 
Secretary and Treasurer . The performance for the 
year is set out in the Financial Review on page 37

Grant making policy

In accordance with Andrew Carnegie’s wishes, the 
Royal Charter enables the Trust to support the 15 
Universities of Scotland, their staff and students . 
The schemes of support available during the year 
ended 30 September 2018 are described below .

Tuition fee grants may be provided to support 
undergraduates studying for a first degree who 
are not eligible for support through the SAAS . 
A competitive Vacation Scholarship scheme is 
operated to assist undergraduate students who 
wish to undertake research in the summer vacation . 

A prestige scheme of PhD Scholarships supports 
a limited number of graduates, with first class 
Honours degrees, who will pursue three years of 
postgraduate research .

Academic members of staff of Scottish universities 
are eligible to apply for the Trust’s Research 
Incentive Grant scheme, which awards grants of 
up to £10,000 for personal research .

Pay policy 

The Trustees and the Trust Secretary are the key 
management personnel . No Trustees receive 
remuneration; details of the reimbursement of 
Trustees expenses are in Note 4 to the financial 
statements . Staff terms and conditions of 
employment are set by the Staffing Committee 
from time to time . The pay of all staff is reviewed 
annually in line with contractual terms, using the 
pay scales operated by the universities .

Related parties

Material transactions with related parties are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements . 
The Trust’s policy is for Trustees, executive and 
advisers to declare their interest and exempt 
themselves from all relevant discussions and 
decisions which may involve a transaction with a 
related party or in which they may have a conflict 
of interest .

Going concern 

The Trustees have considered the Trust’s reserves 
and cash position and the expected income 
over the next 12 months, and consider that it is 
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on 
a going concern basis .

Risk Management 

The Trustees have considered the major strategic, 
business and operational risks which the Trust 
faces and confirm that systems have been 
established to monitor and control these risks and 
to mitigate any adverse impact on the Trust . The 
Trustees receive regular reports on the key risks 
recorded in the Trust’s risk register . The remit of 
the Audit and Risk Committee includes keeping 
under review the effectiveness of internal control 
and risk management systems of the Trust . The 
Trustees believe that the existing systems and the 
structure of decision taking and reporting through 
senior staff continue to provide assurance that 
risks are assessed and carefully managed . 
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The principal risks in the risk register include:

Description of risk Action to manage risk

Failure to maintain/grow real value of 
endowment income .

Regular review of investment policy and 
performance, with independent advice from 
Investment Managers and professionally expert 
members of the Investment Committee .

Risk of IT systems failure resulting in 
interruption of operation and/or loss of data 
and/or inappropriate access to confidential 
data

Ensure continuing operation of all back-up 
systems . Test new systems extensively ahead 
of introduction . Conclude “Cyber Essentials” 
certification .

Constitutional changes and/or changes to 
Government or Universities’ policies that 
impact detrimentally on the Trust .

Continue to monitor Government fee support 
& other relevant policies . Adjust the balance of 
funding between grant schemes in the light of 
changing circumstances
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Trust’s investments at 30th September 2018 
had a market value of £81 .8million, a small increase 
of £0 .7million on the previous year . The unrealised 
revaluation for the year was a loss of £0 .3million, 
which was offset by gains on investments realised 
of £0 .6million . The relatively stable position at year 
end masked fluctuations during the year in month 
end valuation from £76million to £83million, mainly 
due to currency effects . Performance in the year 
was below the Trust’s benchmark target for both 
total and capital returns, but income performance 
was in excess of expectations . The three-year 
performance was below the target as it was 
also impacted by the relatively poor short-term 
performance in 2016 but the five-year position still 
exceeds the target for total return . The Investment 
Committee have discussed the position and 
considered that, in view of the substantial increase 
in income which had been achieved in 2017-18 and 
the further increase which was anticipated in 2018-
19, the yield of the portfolio relative to the market 
should not rise any higher . It was likely to be in the 
best long term interests of the Trust that it should 
fall over time . The Managers were asked to take 
this into consideration when making changes to 
the portfolio .

PERFORMANCE OF  
THE INVESTMENTS

At the year-end, 17 .9% by value was invested in 
European stocks and 1 .2% in North American 
stocks, a similar level to 2017 . Fixed interest 
holdings amounted to 2 .6% and the cash balance 
at year end was 2 .9%, including cash from legacies 
recently transferred to Martin Currie .

Dividend income increased by 9% in for the 
year, from £3 .22million to £3 .51 million, despite a 
reduced level of special dividends . The major part 

of the increase came from the overseas stocks and 
from dividends declared in currencies other than 
sterling, as a result of the weakness of the pound . 
After deducting costs of investment management, 
the net incoming resource available for charitable 
application was £3 .3 million compared to £3 .01 
million in the previous year . 

The overall amount expended under Clause A and 
Clause B (see page 47) was £2 .8 million including 
the support costs, a similar level to last year . 
The expenditure for the year on schemes was 
impacted by the recent changes to the portfolio 
of awards, resulting in unallocated income that 
roughly approximated to the past expenditure on 
the Carnegie Cameron Bursary scheme that was 
suspended in 2017 .

Expenditure on Clause A increased 11 .7% and that 
on Clause B decreased by 17 .8% . In Clause A, this 
mainly reflected an increase in the numbers of 
Research Incentive Grants awarded from 74 to 123 . 
The numbers of PhD scholarships commencing in 
the year remained at 16 but costs rose in line with 
inflation . These increases in amount awarded were, 
to some extent, offset by unused sums from the 
closed schemes (Centenary Professorships and 
Collaborative Research grants) returned by the 
universities . In Clause B, the Carnegie Cameron 
Bursary scheme was closed as government funding 
became available to most students undertaking a 
Master’s degree . The allocations to the remaining 
schemes were increased to compensate for this . 
Tuition Fee Grants were made to 163 recipients, 
with the increase in numbers being achieved by 
working with the universities to identify potential 
applicants . Expenditure on this scheme increased 
from £154,000 to £293,000 as a result . The numbers 
of Vacation Scholarships awarded increased from 
70 to 114 leading to an uplift in the expenditure 
from £99,450 to £231,150 .

Actual for  
the year

Benchmark/ 
income target

3 Year 
actual

3 year 
target

5 year 
actual

5 year 
target

Total return 4 .97% 5 .87% 30 .78% 38 .45% 44 .75% 43 .50%

Capital return 0 .37% 1 .93% 14 .74% 23 .74% 17 .46% 19 .86%

Dividend and interest 
income from investments £3,510,822 £3,209,000
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Support costs in the year reduced to £343,000 
from the exceptional level of 2017 (£415,000), which 
included the cost of staff restructuring and the 
development on new IT systems . Costs of running 
the office in Andrew Carnegie House remained 
stable; additional office expenditure included the 
cost of a promotional brochure and increased 
travel and meeting cost . The latter reflected 
greater interactions with the universities and 
external bodies together with the costs of panel 
meetings . In addition to the Scholars’ Gathering 
held for PhD scholars in the Spring, the holders 
of Vacation Scholarships were invited to an event 
to showcase their work, held at Edinburgh Zoo in 
September . Legal fees of £8,000 were incurred in 
connection with the review of the Charter . The ratio 
of support costs to total income (less investment 
management costs), which was 13 .4% last year 
because of the non-recurring IT expenditure, has 
reduced to 10 .4% .

Under the FRS102 SORP the costs previously 
separated as governance costs are now classified 
as part of the support costs shown in Note 4 to 
the Accounts . Governance costs increased from 
the 2017 level of £52,222 to £62,940, mainly as a 
result of expenditure on the ongoing review of the 
Charter . 

The net operating result for the year on the General 
Fund was a surplus of £448,911 (surplus of £190,980 
in 2017) . The result was almost entirely due to 
increases in the income received that was not 
able to be offset by additional allocations to the 
schemes . The nature of the Trust’s schemes and 
timing dictated by the academic year mean that 
there is little capacity in-year to adjust spending 
plans to reflect changes in the income receivable . 

The Special Supplementary Fund received a 
welcome addition to its income from donations and 
small legacies amounting to £48,000 that enabled 
additional awards totalling £55,600 to be made to 
63 students who were in receipt of a Tuition Fee 
Grant . The Special Supplementary Fund surplus for 
the year was £2,000 . The movement of £14,406 on 
the Property Reserve represents the depreciation 
on the Andrew Carnegie House building . Taken 
together the operating result for the unrestricted 
funds, before gains and losses on investments was 
a surplus of £436,530 . This compares to the prior 
year result of £223,502 . 

Net investment gains realised amounted to 
£0 .6million (2017-losses £0 .25million) and together 
with the unrealised investment loss of £0 .3 
million (2017 gain of £7 .38 million) brought the net 
movement in funds for the year to £0 .7 million .

The Trust’s balance sheet showed a significant 
increase in cash held at year-end (£3 .59million; 2017 
£2 .16million) . Since June 2017, Research Incentive 
Grants awarded have been payable only when the 
research has been completed and reported upon . 
This has had the effect of increasing cash balances 
and the associated creditor for Research Incentive 
Grants awarded but not yet paid by approximately 
£1 .2million . The total funds at 30 September 2018 
were £83,175,447 comprising the Endowment Fund 
of £81,079,388, the amount of £307,975 designated 
as the Special Supplementary Fund, the Property 
Reserve Fund of £498,331 represented by the 
share of Andrew Carnegie House, and the General 
Reserve of £1,289,753 .

The Reserves policy set by the Trustees is intended 
to protect the Trust from unexpected fluctuations 
in future income so as to maintain, at a minimum, 
continuing support for staff and administration 
costs, including investment management fees, as 
committed for the next 12 months . Based on 2018 
levels of expenditure this would imply a reserve of 
approximately £0 .6 million . The General Reserve 
at September 2018 is thus in excess of the amount 
required by the policy . The Trustees have reviewed 
the level of reserves, reflecting on the prospects 
for income and the effects of external decisions 
made, for example on student tuition fees and the 
funding of Scottish universities . As the increase 
in General Reserve derives mainly from additional 
income earned from the endowment, potentially at 
the expense of capital growth, the Trustees intend 
to return the excess reserve to the Endowment 
fund . 

Approved by the Trustees on 8th February  2019 and 
signed on their behalf .

Dame Anne Glover DBE, FRSE, FASM 
Chair
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ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
For the year ended 30th September 2018

  Note Unrestricted 
funds

Endowment 
funds 

2018 
Total 

2017 
Total 

Income from

Investments 2

£ £ £ £

Dividends and interest on investments 3,510,822 - 3,510,822 3,220,580

Bank deposit interest 3,850 - 3,850 1,656

3,514,672 - 3,514,672 3,222,236

Donations and legacies

Other income (Clause B) 9,274 - 9,274 68,983

Legacies 40,882 - 40,882 1,090,699

Total income 2 3,564,828 - 3,564,828 4,381,918

Expenditure on 3

Raising funds- investment management fees 206,936 - 206,936 203,127

Charitable activities 2,921,362 - 2,921,362 2,864,590

Total expenditure 3 3,128,298 - 3,128,298 3,067,717

Operating surplus/(deficit) 436,530 - 436,530 1,314,201

Net gains/(losses) on investments

Realised gains - 866,701 866,701 1,024,453

Realised losses (128) (293,733) (293,861) (1,258,517)

(128) 572,968 572,840 (234,064)

Unrealised gains - 4,989,434 4,989,434 9,409,747

Unrealised losses (7,581) (5,287,858) (5,295,439) (2,026,037)

(7,581) (298,424) (306,005) 7,383,710

Net income/(expenditure) 428,821 274,544 703,365 8,463,847

Transfers between funds - - - -

Net movement in funds 428,821 274,544 703,365 8,463,847

Reconciliation of funds

Total funds brought forward at 1 October 2017 1,667,238 80,804,844 82,472,082 74,008,235

Total funds carried forward at 30 September 2018 2,096,059 81,079,388 83,175,447 82,472,082

All of the above results are derived from continuing activities.
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BALANCE SHEET
As at 30th September 2018

Note 2018 2017

Fixed assets £ £ £ £

Tangible Assets:

Andrew Carnegie House and contents 7 522,359 526,826

Investments

At market value 8 81,797,363 81,149,948

Total fixed assets 82,319,722 81,676,774

Current assets

Accrued income from investments 143,478 193,430

Other debtors and prepayments 56,077 484,503

Cash at bank and in hand 3,590,121 2,156,631

3,789,676 2,834,564

Current liabilities

Amounts due within one year

Grants awarded 1,449,785 784,801

Centenary Professorships 44,760 44,760

Accrued expenses of administration 279,121 131,907

1,773,666 961,468

Net Current assets 2,016,010 1,873,096

Provision for scholarship costs 9 (1,160,285) (1,077,788)

NET ASSETS 83,175,447 82,472,082

Represented by

Endowment Funds 81,079,388 80,804,844

Unrestricted funds

 General Fund 1,289,753 844,180

 Designated funds

 Property Reserve Fund 498,331 509,399

 Special Supplementary Fund 307,975 313,659

2,096,059 1,667,238

TOTAL FUNDS 10 83,175,447 82,472,082

Approved by the Trustees on 8 February 2019 and signed on their behalf

Dame Anne Glover DBE
Chair

36

Accounts for the year ended 30 September 2018



37

Accounts for the year ended 30 September 2018

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 30th September 2018

Unrestricted 
funds 

Endowment 
funds 

2018 
Total 

 2017 
Total 

£ £ £ £

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income/ Expenditure 428,821 274,544 703,365 8,463,847

Depreciation 21,372 - 21,372 23,007

(Gains)/losses on investments 7,709 (274,544) (266,835) (7,149,646)

Loss on disposal of fixed assets - - - 2,168

(Increase)/decrease in debtors 97,798 380,580 478,378 (434,267)

Increase in creditors 812,198 - 812,198 262,059

Provision for scholarships 82,497 - 82,497 39,990

Net cash provided by/ (used in) operating activities 1,450,395 380,580 1,830,975 1,207,158

Cash flows from investing activities -

Acquisitions of fixed assets (16,905) - (16,905) (4,935)

Payments to acquire investments - (10,266,577) (10,266,577) (10,967,628)

Receipts from realisation of investments - 8,435,647 8,435,647 8,204,736

(Increase) /decrease in cash in investment portfolio - 1,450,350 1,450,350 2,052,892

Net cash provided by/ (used in) investing activities (16,905) (380,580) (397,485) (714,935)

Change in cash for the year 1,433,490 - 1,433,490 492,223

Cash at bank and in hand at 1 October 2017 2,156,631 - 2,156,631 1,664,408

Cash at bank and in hand at 30 September 2018 3,590,121 - 3,590,121 2,156,631



1. Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies adopted, 
judgements and key sources of estimated 
uncertainty in the preparation of the financial 
statements of the Trust are set out below .

(a) Basis of preparation – The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 
Statement of Recommended Practice 
(Charities SORP (FRS102)) applicable to 
charities preparing their financial statements 
in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic 
of Ireland (FRS102), with FRS102, and with the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) 
Act 2005 and the Charity Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) . Under FRS102 
the Trust is classified as a public benefit entity .

 The financial statements comprise three 
primary financial statements: the statement 
of financial activities, which incorporates the 
income and expenditure account, the balance 
sheet and the statement of cash flows . 

 The financial statements are prepared under 
the historical cost convention, as modified by 
the revaluation of UK listed investments, in £ 
sterling which is the functional currency of the 
entity . 

 In preparing the financial statements, the 
Trustees are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions, which may 
affect reported income, expenses, assets 
and liabilities . The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors considered relevant . Actual 
results may differ from such estimates . 
Judgements made in preparing these financial 
statements comprise

• The applicability of the estimated useful 
lives of fixed assets used to calculate the 
period over which depreciation is applied

• The review of fixed assets for impairment or 
obsolescence

• The assessment of leases to determine 
whether the risks and rewards of ownership 
remain with the lessor or are transferred to 
the Trust .

(b) Going concern – On the basis of the Trust’s 
reserves and cash position and the expected 
income for the next twelve months, the 
Trustees consider that it is appropriate to 
prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis .

(c) Fixed Assets and Depreciation – Expenditure 
on heritable property and on contents is 
recorded as capital expenditure . Depreciation 
is provided to write off the cost of fixed assets 
over their estimated useful lives on a straight 
line basis as follows:

 Buildings 2%

 Furniture, fixtures and fittings 5-25%

 Computers 25%

 Plant and equipment 5-10%

(d) Investments – Investments are stated at 
fair value as at the balance sheet date . The 
statement of financial activities includes the 
net gains and losses arising on revaluation and 
disposals throughout the year .

(e) Debtors – Debtors are recognised at the 
settlement amount due . Prepayments are 
valued at the amount prepaid .

(f) Cash – Cash at bank and in hand includes cash 
and short term highly liquid investments with a 
short maturity of three months or less from the 
date of acquisition or opening of the deposit or 
similar .

(g) Creditors and provisions – Creditors and 
provisions are recognised where the charity has 
a present obligation resulting from a past event 
that will probably result in a transfer of funds 
to a third party and the amount due to settle 
the obligation can be measured or estimated 
reliably . Creditors and provisions are normally 
recognised at their settlement amount .

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30th September 2018
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(h) Income – Income is recognised when the Trust 
has entitlement to the funds, it is probable that 
the income will be received and the amount 
can be measured reliably . 

• Investment income is accounted for in the 
year in which the Trust is entitled to receipt .

• Legacies and donations - Larger legacies 
of a non-recurring nature are normally 
credited to the Endowment fund in the 
year . Other legacies and donations, on a 
scale commensurate with students’ fees 
advanced in earlier years, are included in 
Clause B income, or, if agreed by the donor, 
added to the Special Supplementary Fund .

(i) Expenditure – Liabilities are recognised as soon 
as there is a legal or constructive obligation 
committing the Trust to the expenditure . 
Expenditure is accounted for on an accruals 
basis .

• Charitable activities - Costs of charitable 
activities include grants made and overhead 
and support costs as shown in Note 5 . Grants 
payable are charged when approved by the 
Trustees except where approval is subject to 
subsequent fulfilment of conditions .

• Provision for scholarship costs  - 
Postgraduate scholarships are awarded for 
a duration of 36 or 42 months subject to 
satisfactory progress being made . Provision 
is made for the outstanding future costs 
estimated to be payable for all scholars in 
post during the financial year .

(j) Employee benefits – Since 1 August 2015 
eligible employees are auto-enrolled in a 
workplace pension scheme operated by NOW 
Pensions . For two existing employees who 
opted out of the NOW scheme, contributions 
continue to be paid towards personal pension 
plans . Total pension contributions amounted 
to £12,310 (2017 £10,026) . These contributions 
are included in support costs . Redundancy and 
termination payments are recognised in the 
financial statements when there is a legal or 
constructive obligation .

(k) Fund accounting – The General Reserve is 
an unrestricted fund which the Trustees are 
free to use in accordance with the charitable 
objects of the Trust .

 Designated Funds

• Special Supplementary Fund - consists of 
sums placed at the disposal of the Trustees 
to alleviate hardship of students already 
receiving fee assistance from the Trust who 
find themselves in exceptionally necessitous 
circumstances .

• Property Reserve Fund - a fund set up to 
support the investment in Andrew Carnegie 
House which is jointly owned and occupied 
with the other UK based Carnegie Trusts .

Endowment Fund - the original endowment 
of the Trust as augmented by net surpluses, 
together with the larger legacies received . 
The income from the fund, less costs of 
management, is treated as unrestricted income 
in line with the terms of the Royal Charter . 
Transfers to and from General Reserve are 
made each year to bring the Endowment Fund 
into balance with the value of its net assets .

(l) Financial instruments – The Trust only has 
financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind 
that qualify as basic financial instruments . Basic 
financial instruments are initially recognised at 
transaction value and subsequently measured 
at their settlement value .
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2. Income

 Notes General  
Fund

Special 
Supplementary 

fund 

Property 
Reserve  

Fund

Endowment 
funds 

Total 

Year ended 30 September 2018 £ £ £ £ £

Investments

Dividends and interest on investments 3,501,242 9,580 - - 3,510,822

Bank deposit interest 3,850 - - - 3,850

3,505,092 9,580 - - 3,514,672

Donations and legacies 2,080 48,076 - - 50,156

Total income 2018 3,507,172 57,656 - - 3,564,828

Year ended 30 September 2017 £ £ £ £ £

Investments

Dividends and interest on investments 3,210,999 9,581 - - 3,220,580

Bank deposit interest 1,656 - - - 1,656

3,212,655 9,581 - 3,222,236

Donations and legacies 2,699 66,284 - 1,090,699 1,159,682

Total income 2017 3,215,354 75,865 1,090,699 4,381,918
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3. Expenditure

Notes General 
Fund

Special 
Supplementary 

fund 

Property 
Reserve 

Fund

Endowment 
funds 

Total 

Year ended 30 September 2018 £ £ £ £ £

Raising Funds-  
  Investment management fees

206,936 - - - 206,936

Charitable Activities

Grants awarded

Clause A 5 1,986,122 - - - 1,986,122

Clause B 5 521,578 - - 521,578

Special Supplementary fund payments 55,631 - - 55,631

Wider Carnegie activities  
(Medals of Philanthropy)

15,125 - - - 15,125

Support costs 4 328,500 - 14,406 - 342,906

Total charitable activities 2,851,325 55,631 14,406 - 2,921,362

Total expenditure 2018 3,058,261 55,631 14,406 - 3,128,298

Year ended 30 September 2017 £ £ £ £ £

Raising Funds-  
  Investment management fees

203,127 - - - 203,127

Charitable Activities

Grants awarded

 Clause A 5 1,784,868 - - - 1,784,868

 Clause B 5 634,184 - - - 634,184

Special Supplementary fund payments - 25,530 - - 25,530

Wider Carnegie activities  
(Medals of Philanthropy)

5,403 - - - 5,403

Support costs 4 396,792 17,813 - 414,605

Total charitable activities 2,821,247 25,530 17,813 - 2,864,590

Total expenditure 2017 3,024,374 25,530 17,813 - 3,067,717
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4. Support costs 

Notes 2018

£

2017

£

Salaries and pension 6 221,568 202,504

Staff training, temporary staff and other costs 17,926 29,714

Rates and insurance 4,074 3,966

Heating, lighting and cleaning 5,668 5,815

Upkeep of premises and equipment 5,983 4,356

Computer maintenance and support 8,153 8,802

Computer development 19,530 116,725

PR & promotion 5,892 2,350

Printing and stationery 2,779 2,497

Postages and telephones 1,532 1,756

Travel and subsistence 4,077 2,178

Legal and professional fees 8,454 -

Audit fee 7,242 7,160

Meeting costs 5,240 5,031

Scholars days PhD and vacation scholars 10,082 2,868

Loss on disposal of Fixed assets - 2,168

Miscellaneous (6,666) (6,292)

321,534 391,598

Depreciation

 Andrew Carnegie House 14,406 15,645

 Other fixed assets 6,966 7,362

342,906 414,605

Support costs are the central costs incurred directly in support of expenditure on the objects of the Trust . 
Governance costs comprise all costs involving the public accountability of the Trust and its compliance 
with regulation and good practice . These costs include statutory audit and legal fees together with costs 
of meetings of the Trustees and committees .

Total attributable to governance costs 62,940 52,222

No Trustee received any payments other than reimbursements of expenditure on travel and subsistence 
costs actually and necessarily incurred in carrying out their duties The aggregate of such reimbursements, 
including payments on behalf of three trustees, was £2,699 (2017 £3,842) including £2,164 (2017 £3,153) in 
connection with liaison with the international network of Carnegie foundations . 
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5. Clause A and Clause B analysis

2018 2017
Clause A Clause B Clause A Clause B

£ £ £ £

INCOME

Unrestricted income 2 3,505,092

Investment management costs 3 (206,936)

Net annual income 3,298,156 1,649,078 1,649,078 1,504,764 1,504,764

Legacies and students’ fees repaid - 2,080 - 2,699

Net income available for grant making 1,649,078 1,651,158 1,504,764 1,507,463

EXPENDITURE

Research Grants ( refunded) (16) - (8,040) -

Research Incentive Grants 960,543 - 428,149 -

Collaborative Research Grants (17,769) - 440,484 -

Scholarships 1,064,383 - 886,167 -

Centenary Professorships (21,019) - 38,108 -

Carnegie- Cameron Bursaries - (2,267) - 380,213

Tuition Fee Grants - 292,695 - 154,521

Vacation Scholarships - 231,150 - 99,450

1,986,122 521,578 1,784,868 634,184

Support costs of grant making 164,250 164,250 198,396 198,396

2,150,372 685,828 1,983,264 832,580

CLAUSE A AND CLAUSE B SURPLUS INCOME (501,294) 965,330 (478,500) 674,883

(501,294)

Wider Carnegie Activities  
(Medals of Philanthropy)

(15,125) (5,403)

Net incoming resources on general fund 448,911 190,980

In terms of Clause A of the Trust Deed, one half of the net annual income shall be applied towards the 
improvement and expansion of the Universities of Scotland; under Clause B the other half of the income, or 
such part thereof as in each year may be found requisite, shall be devoted to assistance with fees exigible 
by the Universities . Any surplus income which may remain after satisfying the requirements under Clause 
A and B shall be at the disposal of the Executive Committee of the Trust .

Details of the numbers of grants awarded are set out in the activity report on pages 7-31 . All grants are 
awards to individuals, but mainly payable to their institutions . 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
6. Salaries and pension

2018 2017

No. No.

Average number employed,
  including part-time employees 

6 5

£

Wages and salaries 214,081 184,941

Social security costs 18,957 16,475

Pension costs 12,310 10,026

Total emoluments of employees 245,348 211,442

Less reimbursed by co-owners of building (23,780) (8,938)

221,568 202,504

Key management is considered to be the Trust Secretary . Key management remuneration including National 
insurance in the year totalled £84,490 (2017 - £76,925) . No pension contributions were made in relation to 
key management in the year . One employee received remuneration in the band £70,000-£80,000 (2017- 
one £60,000-70,000) . There were no prepaid or outstanding pension costs . Termination payments totalled 
£6,439 (2017- £24,879) .

7. Fixed assets

Andrew Carnegie 
House (25% share) 

Contents Total

£ £ £

Cost at 1 October 2017 649,062 106,978 756,040

Additions 3,338 13,567 16,905

Disposals - (7,461) (7,461)

Cost at 30 September 2018 652,400 113,084 765,484

Depreciation at 1 October 2017 139,663 89,551 229,214

Disposals - (7,461) (7,461)

Charge for year 14,406 6,966 21,372

Depreciation at 30 September 2018 154,069 89,056 243,125

Book value at 30 September 2018 498,331 24,028 522,359

Book value at 30 September 2017 509,399 17,427 526,826

Andrew Carnegie House assets include £62,500 of land that is not depreciated .
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8. Investments

UK  
Equities

Overseas 
Equities 

Fixed  
Interest

Cash  
deposits

Settlements 
outstanding

Total

£ £ £ £ £ £

Fair value at 1 October 2017 61,143,853 15,467,265 1,330,577 3,208,253 - 81,149,948

Purchases 6,877,388 3,376,545 12,644 (10,266,577) - -

Sales proceeds (4,737,953) (2,978,015) (719 679) 8,435,647 - -

Exchange gain - (8,223) - - - (8,223)

Gain/(Loss) on sale 569,995 (15,137) 26,205 - - 581,063

Revaluation for the year (123,438) (137,448) (45,119) - - (306,005)

Cash introduced - - - 380,580 - 380,580

Fair value at 30 September 2018 63,729,845 15,704,987 604,628 1,757,903 81,797,363

The historical cost of Listed investments was £60,951,934 (2017-£57,124,468) .

The gain on sale of investments at historical cost was £ 2,004,758 (2017 –gain £944,841)

Shareholdings with a value in excess of 5% of the total portfolio value:-nil (2017 nil) .

FRS 102 requires the disclosure of information in relation to investment risks,  
which is set out in note 11 re financial instruments .

9. Provision for scholarship costs

Awarded 2014 and 
earlier

2015 2016 2017 £

Provision brought forward at 1 October 2017 95,333 331,104 651,351 - 1,077,788

Provision made for scholars commencing in year 1,078,699 1,078,699

Payments in the year (78,151) (295,993) (296,623) (311,119) (981,886)

Adjustments to earlier awards (14,316) - - - (14,316)

Provision carried forward at 30 September 2018 2,866 35,111 354,728 767,580 1,160,285

Provision payable Payable within 
 1 Year

Payable  
2-5 years

At 30  
September 

2018

Scholars appointed 2014 and earlier 2,866 - 2,866

Scholars appointed 2015 35,111 - 35,111

Scholars appointed 2016 302,378 52,350 354,728

Scholars appointed 2017 390,201 377,379 767,580

Total 730,556 429,729 1,160,285
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
10. Movements on funds 2018

Unrestricted funds Total  
Unrestricted 

funds

Endowment 
funds

Total
funds

General Fund Designated funds

Property  
Reserve  

Fund

Special  
Supplementary  

Fund

£ £ £ £ £

At 1 October 2017 844,180 509,399 313,659 1,667,238 80,804,844 82,472,082

Incoming resources 3,507,172 - 57,656 3,564,828 - 3,564,828

Outgoing resources (3,058,261) (14,406) (55,631) (3,128,298) - (3,128,298)

Net operating result 448,911 (14,406) 2,025 436,530 - 436,530

Transfers (3,338) 3,338 - - - -

Gains and losses - - (7,709) (7,709) 274,544 266,835

At 30 September 2018 1,289,753 498,331 307,975 2,096,059 81,079,388 83,175,447

Analysis of funds

Fixed assets 24,028 498,331 - 522,359 522,359

Investments 499,885 - 218,093 717,978 81,079,388 81,797,366

Net current assets 1,926,125 - 89,882 2,016,007 - 2,016,007

Provision (1,160,285) - - (1,160,285) - (1,160,285)

1,289,753 498,331 307,975 2,096,059 81,079,388 83,175,447

Unrestricted funds Total 
Unrestricted 

funds

Endowment 
funds

Total
funds

General Fund Designated funds

Property  
Reserve 

Fund

Special 
Supplementary 

Fund

£ £ £ £ £

At 1 October 2016 657,311 523,101 271,014 1,451,426 72,556,809 74,008,235

Incoming resources 3,215,354 - 75,865 3,291,219 1,090,699- 4,381,918

Outgoing resources (3,024,374) (17,813) (25,530) (3,067,717) - (3,067,717)

Net operating result 190,980 (17,813) 50,335 223,502 1,090,699 1,314,201

Transfers (4,111) 4,111 - - - -

Gains and losses - - (7,690) (7,690) 7,157,336 7,149,646

At 30 September 2017 844,180 509,399 313,659 1,667,238 80,804,844 82,472,082

Analysis of funds

Fixed assets 17,427 509,399 - 526,826 - 526,826

Investments 500,000 - 225,803 725,803 80,424,145 81,149,948

Net current assets 1,404,541 - 87,856 1,492,397 380,699 1,873,096

Provision (1,077,788) - - (1,077,788) - (1,077,788)

844,180 509,399 313,659 1,667,238 80,804,844 82,472,082
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FRS 102 requires the disclosure of information in 
relation to investment risks, which is set out below:

Credit risk: this is the risk that one party to a 
financial instrument will cause a financial loss for 
the other party by failing to discharge an obligation .

Market risk: this comprises currency risk, interest 
rate risk and other price risk .

• Currency risk: this is the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of a financial 
asset will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates .

• Interest rate risk: this is the risk that the 
fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
asset will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates .

• Other price risk: this is the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of a financial 
asset will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices (other than those arising 
from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting 
all similar financial instruments traded in 
the market .

11. Financial instruments

The carrying values of financial instruments as defined by the Accounting standards are as follows:

2018
£

2017
£

Financial assets
Debt instruments at amortised cost

-

Legacy receivable - 380,698

Other debtors 51,709 18,008

Debt instruments at fair value through income & expenditure
51,709 398,706

Listed investments 81,797,363 81,149,948

Financial liabilities
Liabilities at amortised cost

Grants payable 1,494,545 829,561

Accrued expenses of administration 279,121 131,907

1,773,666 961,468

The Trust has exposure to these risks because 
of the investments it makes to implement its 
investment strategy . 

The Trustees manage investment risks, including 
credit risk and market risk, within agreed risk 
limits which are set taking into account the Trust’s 
strategic investment objectives . These investment 
objectives and risk limits are implemented through 
the investment management agreements in 
place with the Trust’s investment managers and 
monitored by the Investment Committee by regular 
reviews of the investment portfolios .

Credit Risk – The Trust is directly exposed to credit 
risk in relation to the fixed interest investments and 
cash deposits held . Direct credit risk is mitigated 
by policy restrictions on the grade of investment 
held .

Currency risk – The Trust is subject to currency risk 
because some of the Trust’s investments are held 
in overseas markets, 

Interest rate risk – The Trust is subject to interest 
rate risk through investments in bonds . 

Other price risk – Other price risk arises principally 
in relation to direct equity holdings . The Trust 
manages this exposure to other price risk by 
constructing a diverse portfolio of investments 
across various markets . 
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12. Financial commitments – operating leases

The financial commitment at 30 September 2018 
in respect of operating leases for printing and 
copying equipment was £1,413 (£628 payable in less 
than one year and £785 within two to five years) 
(2017-£2,041: £ 628 payable in less than one year and 
£1,413 within two to five years )

13. Transactions with related parties

(a) Trustees – No Trustee received any payments 
other than reimbursements of expenditure 
on travel and subsistence costs actually and 
necessarily incurred in carrying out their 
duties The aggregate of such reimbursements, 
including payments on behalf of three trustees, 
was £2,783 (2017 £3,842) including £2,164 (2017 
£3,153) in connection with liaison with the 
international network of Carnegie foundations . 
Two Trustees were directors of Scottish Power 
plc, which supplied electricity to the Trust 
office in Andrew Carnegie House at a cost of 
£2,203 .

(b) Other related parties – The Chair, Dame 
Anne Glover became President of the Royal 
Society of Edinburgh and a Trustee of the RSE 
Scotland Foundation on 1 April 2018 . The Trust 
administers PhD scholarships on behalf of 
both these bodies and during the year received 
payments to cover the costs of the scholarships 
totalling £21,891 and £79,745 respectively . 
Professor Petra Wend is also a Trustee of the 
Royal Society of Edinburgh .

14. Ultimate Controlling Party 

The Trust is incorporated by Royal Charter and is 
controlled by its Trustees .

Accounts for the year ended 30 September 2018

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



REPORT BY THE AUDITORS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE TRUSTEES OF THE 
CARNEGIE TRUST FOR THE UNIVERSITIES OF SCOTLAND
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The 
Carnegie Trust for the Universities of Scotland 
(the ‘charity’) for the year ended 30 September 
2018 which comprise the Statement of Financial 
Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow 
Statement and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies . The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice) .

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the 
charity’s affairs as at 30 September 2018 and 
of its income and expenditure for the year 
then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Charities and 
Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 
and Regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended)

11-15 Thistle Street
Edinburgh 
EH2 1DF 
United Kingdom

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law . Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report . We are 
independent of the charity in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the UK, including 
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements . We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion .

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters in relation to which the ISAs 
(UK) require us to report to you where:

• the Trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is not appropriate; or

• the Trustees have not disclosed in the 
financial statements any identified material 
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
about the charity’s ability to continue to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date 
when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue .
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Other information

The other information comprises the information 
included in the Report of the Trustees, other than 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon . The Trustees are responsible for the 
other information . Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information 
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon .

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated .

If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information . If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact .

We have nothing to report in this regard .

Matters on which we are required  
to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charity Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) require 
us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• The information given in the financial 
statements is inconsistent in any material 
respect with the Trustees’ report; or

• proper accounting records have not been 
kept, or

• the financial statements are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit .

Responsibilities of Trustees

As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ 
responsibilities the Trustees are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view, and for such internal control as the Trustees 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error .

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees 
are responsible for assessing the charity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Trustees either intend to cease operations or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so .

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

We have been appointed as auditor under section 
44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and report in accordance with 
the Act and relevant regulations made or having 
effect thereunder .

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion . Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 
will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists . Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements .

A further description of our responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at  
https://www .frc .org .uk/auditorsresponsibilities . 
This description forms part of our auditor’s report .

This report is made solely to the Trustees, as a 
body, in accordance with Section 44 (1) (c) of the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 
2005 and Regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) . Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Trustees those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose . To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the charity and its Trustees as a 
body for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed .

Henderson Loggie

Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditors  
Eligible to act as an auditor in terms of  
section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006

11-15 Thistle Street 
Edinburgh
EH2 1DF

25th February 2019

Report by the Auditors



TRUSTEES & STANDING COMMITTEES 2017-18

NOMINATED MEMBERS  
OF THE TRUST

Professor Dame Anne Glover, FRS PRSE - Chair 
since May 2015 . A molecular biologist and currently 
President of the Royal Society of Edinburgh (2018-
2021) and Special Adviser to the Principal at the 
University of Strathclyde . Anne Glover gained a 
first class Bachelor of Science honours degree at 
the University of Edinburgh and a PhD at King’s 
College, Cambridge . Glover was recognised in 
2008 as a Woman of Outstanding Achievement 
by the UK Resource Centre for Women in Science, 
Engineering and Technology and was awarded a 
CBE in 2009 for services to environmental science 
and a DBE in 2015 for services to science in UK and 
Europe . She was the first Chief Scientific Adviser to 
the President of the European Commission (2012-
2015) and prior to that appointment she was the 
first Chief Scientific Adviser for Scotland (2006-
2011) . She is non-executive director on several 
boards and is also a Trustee of several charities 
and has a particular interest in how knowledge can 
be used to transform lives in Africa . 

Richard Burns Esq., MA LLB . Trustee since 2005 . 
MA from Oxford in Modern History and LLB from 
Edinburgh University . Formerly joint senior partner 
of Baillie Gifford & Co, investment managers in 
Edinburgh, Chancellor’s Assessor and Chairman 
of the Finance Committee of the Court of the 
University of Dundee . Chairman of two investment 
trust companies .

The Rt Hon Lord Eassie (Ronald D Mackay), PC . 
Trustee since May 2016. Lord Eassie holds the  
degrees of MA (Hons) from the University of St 
Andrews and LlB from the University of Edinburgh . 
Admitted to the Faculty of Advocates in 1972, he 
practised at the Bar until 1979, when he took up a post 
as an official of the Court of Justice of the European 
Communities in Luxembourg . He resumed practice 
as an advocate in 1983 becoming Queen’s Counsel 
in 1986 . He served as an Advocate depute between 
1987 and 1990 . From 1997 until retirement in 2015 he 
held office as a judge in the Court of Session and 
the High Court of Justiciary; and between 2002 
and 2006 was also chairman of the Scottish Law 
Commission . Among extra-judicial activities, in 
2005 Lord Eassie accepted an invitation to assume 
convenorship of the Joint Standing Committee on 

Legal Education in Scotland . He is also president 
of the council of the Scottish Universities Law 
Institute . He is an honorary member of the Society 
of Legal Scholars and has contributed to, and 
edited, a number of legal textbooks .

Alison Fielding, BSc MSc MBA PhD . Trustee since 
2016.  Alison Fielding is an experienced entrepreneur; 
creating, building and investing in high-growth 
companies . Her career has spanned scientific 
research at Zeneca plc, strategy consultancy at 
McKinsey & Company, and investment, business 
building and CEO coaching at IP Group plc, 
where she was COO until 2013 and is currently a 
Venture Partner . She has extensive executive and 
non-executive experience and is currently NED 
at Nanoco plc, Getech plc and a Trustee of Royal 
Voluntary Service . Alison holds a First Class (Hons) 
BSc and PhD from the University of Glasgow, an 
MBA from Manchester Business School and an MSc 
in Mindfulness from the University of Aberdeen .

Sir John Grant, KCMG . Trustee since 2013. Formerly 
Executive Vice President, Policy and Corporate 
Affairs, BG Group . Before joining the BG Group 
in 2009, John had been president of BHP Billiton 
Europe since 2007 . Prior to that he was a member 
of the Diplomatic Service from 1976-2007, holding 
posts in Stockholm, Moscow and Brussels, where 
he was the UK’s Permanent Representative to the 
European Union from 2003-2007 .

Lord Kerr of Kinlochard, GCMG HonLLD FRSE . 
Deputy Chairman since 2013, Trustee since 2005 . 
Educated at Glasgow Academy and Pembroke 
College, Oxford . A Diplomatic Service career 
included spells as Permanent Representative to 
the EU, Ambassador to the USA, and Foreign 
Office Permanent Under Secretary (when he 
was a member of the British Council Board) . 
Chairman of Imperial College 2005-11, and Deputy 
Chairman of Royal Dutch Shell 2005-12 . Now 
Deputy Chairman of Scottish Power, Chairman of 
the Centre for European Reform and a director of 
the Scottish American Investment Company plc . 
Member, Standing Council for Europe since June 
2016 . Formerly a Rhodes Trustee and Fulbright 
Commissioner . A crossbench peer since 2004 .
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Donald McDonald, CBE . Trustee since March 2016. 
Donald MacDonald, a law graduate of Edinburgh 
University and a chartered accountant . Involved in 
corporate finance and a variety of businesses . Past 
President of Edinburgh Chamber of Commerce . 
Over 30 years involvement in the arts . Formerly 
Chair (now life President) of Scottish Chamber 
Orchestra, also served on Board of Edinburgh 
Festival . Joint Founder of East Neuk Festival and 
also Research Centre into Motor Neurone Disease 
at Edinburgh University and Euans Guide .

Sir Iain McMillan, CBE DL FCIB FCIBS FAIA CCMI 
FSQA FRSA . Trustee since 2010. Sir Iain McMillan 
spent twenty-three years with the TSB Group prior 
to joining the Confederation of British Industry 
(CBI) in 1993 . He held the position of Director, CBI 
Scotland for nineteen years until 2014 . Sir Iain now 
holds a number of Board positions in the business 
and charitable sectors . He is currently Chairman 
of SkillForce, a charity that awards the Prince 
William Award, and the University of Strathclyde 
Business School Advisory Board, a Member of the 
Competition Appeal Tribunal, a Member of Audit 
& Risk Assurance Committee of the Competition 
Service and Honorary Patron of the Scottish North 
American Business Council (SNABC) . In 2009, Sir 
Iain was appointed Honorary Air Commodore of 
602 (City of Glasgow) Squadron, Royal Auxiliary 
Air Force . In 2003, Sir Iain was appointed CBE for 
services to the business community and lifelong 
learning in Scotland . In 2015, Sir Iain was knighted 
for services to the Scottish economy . 

Sandy Nairn, BSc PhD CFA . Trustee since March 
2016 . Investment Partner and CEO at Edinburgh 
Partners an Edinburgh based asset manager . 
Senior Non Executive Director at The Mercantile 
Trust . Previously Chief Investment Officer at 
Scottish Widows Investment Partnership (2000-
2003) and Director of Global Equity Research at 
Templeton Investment (1990-2000) . Prior to this 
he worked at Murray Johnstone an investment 
manager in Glasgow and as an economist at the 
Scottish Development Agency . He has authored 
two books on investment related topics .

Sara Parkin, OBE . Trustee from March 2016. Sara 
Parkin is Principal Associate of The Sustainability 
Literacy Project and co-Founder and Trustee of 
Forum for the Future . She was born in Aberdeen 
and began her working life as a nurse in Edinburgh 
During the 1980s she played leading roles in 
the UK Green Party and in the growth of green 
politics worldwide . With Forum for the Future 
she designed and ran a Masters in Leadership 
for Sustainable Development for 20 years 

and wrote The Positive Deviant: Sustainability 
Leadership in a Perverse World, now a course book 
in several countries . She sits on the Board of the 
Higher Education Academy, is Chair of the Richard 
Sandbrook Trust and advises the NUS and others 
on sustainability . Past Board experience includes 
NERC, the Environment Agency (E&W), Friends of 
the Earth and the New Economics Foundation . She 
is also a Patron of Population Matters, the Urban 
Orchard Project and the Museum of Islay Life . 
Her honours include recognition by engineering, 
other professional and education institutions and, 
in 2001, an OBE for services to education and 
sustainable development . 

Judith Sischy, OBE BA MA . Trustee since 2011 . 
Former Chief Executive/Director of Education for 
the Scottish Council of Independent Schools (SCIS); 
appointed on the Scottish Qualifications Authority 
Advisory Board, General Teaching Council for 
Scotland, Government’s Curriculum for Excellence 
Management Board . Former Member of the Court 
of Queen Margaret University, the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants for Scotland and of the 
Appointments Committee of the General Teaching 
Council for Scotland . She has previously served on 
the Sick Children’s Trust in Edinburgh, Childline, 
Common Purpose and Edinburgh Rotary (Past 
President) . Currently teaching and mentoring for 
City of Edinburgh and for ACOSVO, a member of the 
Board of Edinburgh College and of several charities . 
Awarded an OBE in 2009 for services to education 
and the voluntary sector . 

Ed Weeple, CB MA . First Minister’s Assessor 2004- 
2015 and Trustee since 2016. Formerly, Head 
of Lifelong Learning, Scottish Government - 
responsible for post-school education and training, 
including HE and FE . Since 2003, has held posts as: 
Court Member, Heriot Watt University; Member and 
Chair, Telford College; Special Adviser to Principal, 
University of the West of Scotland; and Secretary, 
Goodison Group in Scotland . Posts held prior to 
2003 include: Membership of: UK Chief Scientist’s 
Advisory Committee; UK Science and Engineering 
Base Committee; and AFRC Management Board 
and Visiting Groups . Also, Common Purpose, 
Business in the Community Executive Council and 
Trustee, Garvald Edinburgh . 
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EX OFFICIO TRUSTEES
Principals and Vice-Chancellors  
of the Universities of Scotland

Aberdeen, University of 
Professor Sir Ian Diamond BSc PhD DL FBA FRSE  
until 31 July 2018

From 1 August 2018 
Professor George Boyne MA MLitt PhD,FAcSS

Abertay, University of 
Professor Nigel Seaton BSc PhD

Dundee, University of 
Professor Sir Peter Downes OBE FRSE

Edinburgh, University of 
Professor Sir Timothy O’Shea BSc PhD FRSE  
until 31 December 2017

From 1 January 2018 
Professor Peter Mathieson MBBS PhD FRCP FRCPE FMedSci

Edinburgh Napier University 
Professor Andrea Nolan OBE MVB PhD FRSE MRCVS

Glasgow, University of 
Professor Sir Antonio (Anton) Muscatelli  
MA PhD FRSA FRSE AcSS

Glasgow Caledonian University 
Professor Pamela Gillies CBE BSc PGCE Med MMedSci 

PhD FRSA FRSE FFPH FAcSS Hon FRCPS (Glasg)

Heriot-Watt University 
Professor Richard A. Williams OBE, FREng, FTSE,  

BSc (Eng), PhD, CEng, ARSM, DIC, FIMMM, FIChemE, CSc

Highlands and Islands, University of 
Professor Clive Mulholland BSc, PhD, CSci, FIBMS, 

SFHEA, FRSA

Queen Margaret University 
Professor Petra Wend PhD FRSA FRSE

Robert Gordon University 
Professor Ferdinand von Prondzynski MRIA BA LLB PhD 
until 31 August 2018

From 1 September 2018 
Professor John Harper BSc PhD FRSC

St Andrews, University of 
Professor Sally Mapstone MA DPhil 

Stirling, University of 
Professor Gerry McCormac BSc PhD

Strathclyde, University of 
Professor Sir Jim McDonald FREng FRSE FIET FInstP

West of Scotland, University of 
Professor Craig Mahoney BEd MA PhD TTC CPsychol

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
Richard Burns – Chairman
David Cumming MA

Sir Iain McMillan
Dr Alexander Nairn
Mark Tyndall BA

Maxwell C B Ward MA

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Sir Iain McMillan – Chairman 
Mrs Judith Sischy
Professor Nigel Seaton
Lord Eassie

MEMBERS OF STAFF
Secretary and Treasurer
Professor Andy Walker, BA MSc PhD FInstP FRSE

Administrative Manager
Patricia Krus MA PhD 

Bursar
Kate Ellis BSc FCA DChA

Grants Officer
John Thompson PhD

Grants Assistant
Diane Stewart BA MA

until December 2017

Administrator
Sarah Self BA

Data and Contact Administrator
Daniel Proudfoot MSc BSc

from January 2018 until July 2018

AUDITORS
Henderson Loggie,  
11-15 Thistle Street,  
Edinburgh EH2 1DF

BANKERS
Lloyds Banking Group plc,  
Henry Duncan House,  
120 George Street,  
Edinburgh EH2 4TS

INVESTMENT MANAGERS
Martin Currie Investment Management Ltd,  
Saltire Court, 20 Castle Terrace,  
Edinburgh EH1 2ES

Copies of the Royal Charter and of its By-Laws may be 
obtained from the Secretary of the Trust on payment of a 
reasonable charge. The charity registration number of the 
Trust is SC 015600.
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Figure 1 Dame Anne Glover,  
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 2 Prof Andy Walker,  
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 3 PhD Scholars’ Day

Figure 4 Vacation Scholars’ Event,  
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 5 Ed Weeple,  
Jonathan Triffitt & Prof Sally Mapstone

Figure 6 Roxanna McGee

Figure 7 Issam Yasser Husean

Figure 8 Chloe Gallacher,  
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 9 Piotr Tosik

Figure 10 Albara Elgehani,  
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 11 Tomasz Plaskacinski,  
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 12 Claire Kidd,  
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 13 Laura Cowie

Figure 14 Kristin Lund

Figure 15 Samuel White

Figure 16 Jonathan Triffitt

Figure 17 Alicia Núñez-García

Figure 18 Vitalijs Brejevs

Figure 19 Alan Dodgson

Figure 20 Kelly Brown

Figure 21 Ronnie Mooney 
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 22 Natalie Sinclair 
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 23 Beth Johnston 
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 24 Stuart Burrell

Figure 25 Rebecca Walker

Figure 26 Eilidh Jack

Figure 27 Dr Sofia Evermalm-Kalamakis

Figure 28 Dr Alexandre Johnston

Figure 29 Dr Wenduan Xu

Figure 30 Dr Ona Miller

Figure 31 Dr Scott Johnstone

Figure 32 Dr Michael Mikulewicz,  
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 33 Dr Craig Stark,  
courtesy of Kallum Corke

Figure 34 Dr Mingyuan Chu

Figure 35 Dr Leah Herrgen

Front cover: Dr Katherine Duncan, Chancellor’s Fellow in Drug Discovery at the University of Strathclyde . 

Dr Duncan’s research on the biosynthetic and chemical potential of ancient Antarctic and Arctic bacteria for drug 
discovery has been funded by a Collaborative Research Grant from the Carnegie Trust . Katherine was selected by 
Homeward Bound to participate in its International Women in Science Leadership Program in 2017-18 . The year-long 
programme provides women with leadership and strategic skills and a strong network in order to enhance their 
ability to impact policy and decision-making for a sustainable future, culminating in a 3-week Antarctic expedition . 
Dr Duncan was part of the second cohort of 80 female scientists selected from a wide range of organisations across 
the globe . Following this, Dr Duncan returned to Antarctica in January 2019 as Homeward Bound faculty, where she 
co-led the science programme for the third cohort .
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